
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

Date Thursday 18 December 2014
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members 
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

2. Substitute Members  

3. Minutes of the meeting held on the 20 October 2014  (Pages 1 - 6)

4. Declarations of interest, if any  

5. Children's Centre Review Consultation Process - Report of Assistant 
Chief Executive  (Pages 7 - 12)

6. Update on the Delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 4 - Report 
of Assistant Chief Executive  (Pages 13 - 16)

7. Quarter 2 2014/15 Performance Management - Report of Assistant 
Chief Executive  (Pages 17 - 88)

8. Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services  (Pages 89 - 98)

9. Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees - Report of Assistant Chief Executive  (Pages 99 - 104)

10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  



Colette Longbottom
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  10 December 2014

To: The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

Councillor J Armstrong (Chairman)
Councillor P Stradling (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors A Batey, R Bell, J Blakey, A Bonner, D Boyes, J Chaplow, 
K Corrigan, R Crute, B Graham, D Hall, K Henig, A Hopgood, P Lawton, 
J Lethbridge, H Liddle, C Potts, L Pounder, A Shield, M Simmons, W Stelling, 
R Todd, J Turnbull and S Wilson

Faith Communities Representatives: 
Revd K Phipps

Parent Governor Representatives: 
R Patel

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD

At a Meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Management Board held in Committee Room 2, 
County Hall, Durham on Monday 20 October 2014 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor  P Stradling in the Chair

Members of the Committee:
Councillors A Batey, J Blakey, D Boyes, J Chaplow, R Crute, B Graham, K Henig, 
A Hopgood, P Lawton, J Lethbridge, H Liddle, T Nearney, C Potts, M Simmons, R Todd, 
S Wilson and I Jewell (substitute for J Turnbull)

Faith Community Representative:
Revd K Phipps

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Armstrong, R Bell, A Bonner, 
D Hall, A Shield and J Turnbull.

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor I Jewell substitute for Councillor J Turnbull.

3 Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on the 12 September 2014 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

The Head of Planning and Performance referred to Item 3 of the minutes of the meeting 
held on 12 September 2014 and advised that Councillor Liddle had been provided with an 
update regarding the Children’s Centre at Witton Gilbert.

Referring to item 8 of the minutes, the Head of Planning and Performance informed the 
Board that Councillor S Wilson had been provided with the breakdown on hate crimes that 
had been reported and advised that the information could be provided to other members 
on request.

4 Declarations of interest

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



5 County Durham Partnership Update

The Board considered a report of the Assistant Chief Executive that provided an update 
on issues being addressed by the County Durham Partnership (CDP) including key issues 
from the Board, the five Thematic Partnerships and all Area Action Partnerships (AAPs). 
The report also included updates on other key initiatives being carried out in partnership 
across the County (for copy see file of minutes).

The Head of Planning and Performance highlighted work carried out within the County 
Durham Partnership in recent months and the priorities set out in the Sustainable 
Community Strategy (SCS).

Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.  

6 Welfare Reform Update 

The Board considered a joint report of the Assistant Chief Executive, Corporate Director, 
Resources and Corporate Director, Regeneration and Economic Development that 
provided an update on welfare reform and its impacts on the county and outlined 
proposals to extend the work to encompass a wider remit looking at poverty in the County 
(for copy see file of minutes).

The Head of Policy and Communications reported that the following major issues had 
been implemented by the Government so far:

 Localisation of Council Tax Support;
 Restricting housing benefit payments due to ‘under occupancy’;
 Applying a ‘benefit cap’ to any household receiving more than £500 a week in 

benefit;
 Introduction of Personal Independence Payments (PIP) for new claimants and 

some existing Disability Living Allowance (DLA) claimants.

It was reported that there were no overall figures available for the UK on how many 
people would be affected by the changes brought forward by the Welfare Reform Act 
2011, however, within County Durham it was still estimated that approximately 95,000 
households would be affected by one or more of the welfare reforms.

Since the last report to members, the government had set the cap for total welfare 
spending at £119 billion for 2015-16, rising in line with inflation to £127 billion in 2018-19. 
The cap was in line with current welfare expenditure in 2014/15 and included child benefit, 
incapacity benefit, winter fuel payment and income support, but did not include state 
pension and Jobseeker’s Allowance.

Councillor S Wilson referred to tackling poverty and asked about the criteria that applied 
for the new family test and was concerned whether one size fits all. The Head of Policy 
and Communication would investigate and report back to members.

Page 2



Councillor A Hopgood referred to the credit union salary deduction scheme and 
suggested that it should not be assumed that this was just used as an alternative facility to 
high interest or payday loans, when means of securing funding had failed. Many people 
use the facility to support the credit union.

Referring to paragraph 70 of the report on rent arrears, Councillor A Hopgood felt that the 
information was written in a negative way and suggested it would be more appropriate to 
highlight the positive as the Authority had introduced systems to address the issues. The 
Head of Policy and Communications would consider changing the wording.

Councillor D Boyes asked if residents were kept informed of any issues regarding 
universal credit that may affect them. The Head of Policy and Communications advised 
that the Council had adopted strategies throughout all stages of the introduction of the 
scheme and have continued to work closely with residents to keep them updated on the 
situation. 

In response to a question from Councillor T Nearney regarding the administration of the 
Universal Credit, the Head of Policy and Communications advised that the main role for 
the Council was to assist vulnerable residents to access Universal Credit including help 
and support for people who were not online and required assistance in opening bank 
accounts.

Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.    

7 Update on the Delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 4 

The Board considered a report of the Assistant Chief Executive that provided an update 
on the progress made at the end of June 2014 on the delivery of the 2014/15 to 2016/17 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP4) (for copy see file of minutes).

The MTFP 4 had been agreed by Council and for 2014/15 the savings target is just over 
£23m which forms part of the overall savings target for the period from 2011/12 to 
2016/17 of around £224m.

The Head of Policy and Communications reported that delivery of the MTFP programme 
remains very challenging and the savings for 2014/15 represents an increase of 10% from 
the previous year. Through the robust approach, the Council continue to manage the 
savings programme and remain within plan in meeting the savings targets.

Councillor Hopgood commented on the consultation on Children’s Centres and expressed 
concerns regarding public perception that the review was being carried out due to budget 
savings. She added that the Corporate Director, Children and Adults Services had 
advised in previous meetings that the Children’s Centres were being reviewed as they 
had failed to deliver the improvements that were hoped for, irrespective of savings targets.

Resolved:
That the content of the report and the progress being made in delivering MTFP be noted.

Page 3



8 Notice of Key Decisions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services that 
provided a list of key decisions which were scheduled to be considered by the Executive 
(for copy see file of minutes).

The Committee Services Manager reported that since the last update there had been the 
following movement in items being considered at Cabinet which would be published on 21 
October 2014:-

 2015/16 General Fund Revenue and Capital Budget MTFP 5 and Council Plan and 
Service Plans had been moved from October and December to November and 
January;

 Framework for the Future Provision of Fixed Play Sites had been moved from 
October to November.

Councillor A Hopgood reiterated her previous comments regarding the lack of information 
from services about major issues such as the Gala Theatre and the Children’s Centres 
consultation which were not included on the notice. 

The Head of Planning and Performance advised that the Authority had a legal 
requirement to publish a list of Key Decisions at least 28 clear days before that decision 
could be made by Cabinet. The Committee Services Manager advised of the definition of 
a key decision as contained in the Council’s Constitution.

Councillors commented that even though the Authority were adhering to the legal 
requirements, it would be useful to look into best practice and see how other Authorities 
report their decisions, and also whether information could be supplied on other decisions 
that were not classed as ‘key’.

Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

9 Update in relation to Petitions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
provided an update on the current situation regarding various petitions received by the 
Authority (for copy see file of minutes).

The Committee Services Manager reported that since the last update, 3 new paper 
petitions had been received and 6 had completed the process. She added that there was 
a live petition on the council’s website on the delivery of Children’s Centres which was 
due to close on Thursday 23 October. 

Resolved:  
That the information contained in the report be noted.

Page 4



10 Information update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

The Board considered a report of the Assistant Chief Executive that provided an update of 
overview and scrutiny activity between September and October 2014 (for copy see file of 
minutes).

Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board

18 December 2014

Children’s Centre Review Consultation 
Process

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive 

Purpose of the Report
1. To provide Members with background information relating to the presentation on the 

Children’s Centre Review consultation process. The presentation will be given to the 
committee by Carole Payne, Head of Children’s Services.

2. The accompanying presentation seeks to provide reassurances to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board that a robust consultation process was delivered.

Background
3. On 16 July 2014, the Council’s Cabinet took the decision to hold a consultation about 

the future of Children’s Centres across County Durham. On 31 July, 2014 following a 
request for call in of the decision, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board determined that having considered the information it would take no further 
action, in which case the decision made by the Cabinet would take immediate effect.

4. The public consultation ran for 12 weeks from 31 July 2014 and ended on 23 October 
2014. The 2 proposals that were consulted on were:

 The community delivery model – putting services closer to families and
 The 43 Children’s Centres and the 15 it is proposed to retain

Children’s Centre Review

5. There are currently 43 Children’s Centres across County Durham which were 
developed using the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2000-2007 to ensure centres were 
situated where they were needed, closest to families experiencing significant 
disadvantage across a range of indicators.

6. Over the last 10 years Children’s Centres have played an important role in the lives of 
children and families, offering a wide range of services and support.  However, despite 
this children in County Durham are less ready to start school and fewer achieve a 
good level of development at the end of their reception year than others both 
regionally and nationally.

7. Additionally, the Council is facing the challenge of significant cuts to public funding.  
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) require savings of approximately 
£224 million from 2011-2017.  The proposals that were consulted on, if approved 
by cabinet in spring 2015, would deliver MTFP 15/16 and 16/17 savings of 
approximately £1 million.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



8. A robust and objective review of Current Children’s centre provision was in line with 
the Early Years Strategy and the requirements of the Councils MTFP.

9. In reviewing the current Children’s Centre arrangements we have:-

a. Carried out a 12 week public consultation involving all stakeholders and will be 
analysing feedback; 

b. Reflected on the evolution of Children’s Centres in County Durham and 
changes in policy direction between 1999 to date;

c. Analysed needs relating to deprivation, using the 1Index of Deprivation 2010;
d. Considered the impact of our Children’s Centres in relation to social, 

economic and learning outcomes;
e. Considered the inspection outcomes for our Children’s Centres over the 

period 2010-14;
f. Considered the views of service users as expressed through service user 

surveys;
g. Considered the community venues for delivery of the proposed community 

delivery model;
h. Considered accessibility and distance to travel to potential community venues 

and
i. Considered the need to make required MTFP efficiency savings.

Methodology & Proposals

The Community Delivery Model

10.We want to make our service more accessible to children and families by delivering 
them closer to where families live. We want to do this by making better use of 
community buildings and facilities like libraries, schools, leisure and community 
centres, for the delivery of services to support children and families during their early 
years. This will move away from the requirement for families to come into Children’s 
Centres to access support and services.

11.The 43 Children’s Centres are currently grouped in to 15 “clusters” reflecting 
management areas. The proposal is that we maintain one main Children’s Centre in 
each cluster. This will reduce the number of Children’s Centres we have in County 
Durham from 43 to 15. These centres alongside an extensive and flexible network of 
community venues will deliver services across the cluster and provide a base for 
staff. We will find alternative uses for the other 28 centres to ensure services 
benefiting children and families can continue to be delivered.

12.The retained centre would accommodate staff to coordinate services across each 
cluster using a number of community venues in addition to home visits. These are 
the places families tell us they already go. Services will therefore be available from 
more venues, not less under this model.

1 The Index of Deprivation has seven distinct domains: Income Deprivation; Employment Deprivation; Health 
Deprivation and Disability; Education Skills and Training Deprivation; Barriers to Housing and Services; Living 
Environment Deprivation; Crime.Page 8



43 Children’s Centres and the 15 it is proposed to retain

13.The Index of Deprivation 2010 was a key indicator in determining the locations of 
Children’s Centres that were proposed and consulted on. This ensured that our 
Children’s Centres would be located where they are most needed and able to draw on 
a range of community provision to successfully engage families in the top 30% most 
deprived communities and those in greatest need of additional help.

14. It was proposed to retain one Children’s Centre building in each cluster, thereby 
reducing the number of centres from 43 to 15. These 15 centres, alongside an 
extensive and flexible network of community venues would deliver services across 
each cluster and provide a base for staff.

15. A range of factors informed the proposals consulted on regarding which centres 
should be retained. Within each cluster, these were considered and the centre that 
represented the ‘best fit’ was proposed. The range of factors can be found in 
Appendix 2.

16.The recommendations on which Children’s Centre buildings should be retained in 
each cluster formed part of the consultation, Appendix 3.

Recommendation

10 Members of the Children and young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
asked to:

a. Note the presentation on the consultation process and comment accordingly.

Background Papers

 Review of Children’s Centres in County Durham - Cabinet 16 July 2014

Contact: Carole Payne, Tel.  03000 268983 
Email: carole.payne@durham.gov.uk 

Page 9

mailto:carole.payne@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Finance – The proposals would enable efficiency savings in line with the County Council’s 
Medium term Financial Plan (MTFP).  The specific proposals in this report would deliver 
approximately £1 million from a rationalisation of buildings and a restructure of the staff resource 
designed to maximise savings whilst minimising reduction in the number of posts.

Additional costs relating to the new community delivery model have been identified and existing 
resources identified to fund this.

Staffing – A re-configuration of the staffing resource through a full HR exercise was undertaken 
in 2014 in line with the County Council’s Policies and Procedures. This does not pre- determine the 
outcome on any decisions about Children’s Centre buildings.

All relevant trade unions were consulted with accordingly.

Equality and Diversity - A full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and will form part 
of the final Cabinet Report.

Accommodation – The proposals to reduce the number of Children’s Centre buildings could 
result in changes to accommodation arrangements.

Crime and Disorder - N/A

Human Rights - N/A

Consultation
A 12 week public consultation was undertaken between 31 July 2014 and 23 October 2014 
involving all internal and external stakeholders. The consultation plan, delivery and analysis were all 
approved by the Consultation Officers Group (COG). 

Page 10



Appendix 2 - Factors considered to inform proposals of which 15 Children’s Centres to 
retain that were consulted on.

Population:

1. the proportion of children aged 0-4 in the top 30% Super Output Areas (SOA) in the 
cluster who live in the centre’s ‘reach’ area;

2. the proportion of all children aged 0-4 in the cluster who live in the centre’s 
‘reach’ area.

Practical issues:
3. the building’s capacity to deliver services;
4. the building’s capacity to accommodate those staff who work in the area.

Current use of the Children’s Centre building:
5. the centre in the cluster that had the highest proportion (%) of all visits by children 

and parents to centres in the cluster between April 2011 and September 2013;
6. the centre in the cluster that had the highest proportion (%) of all visits by children and 

parents from the top 30% SOAs in the cluster area in the same period.

Financial issues
7. the centre in the cluster subject to the highest level of potential clawback from any 

funder;
8. the centre in the cluster with the highest level of potential clawback from the 

European Regional Development Fund (ERDF);
9. whether a centre or space within it, may be needed to accommodate an increase in 

school places to 2017 (which might represent an opportunity to mitigate against the 
risk of clawback);

10.whether a centre, or space within it, may be needed to provide additional space for 
nursery places for vulnerable 2 year olds (as above).

The level of economic and social needs of the centre’s reach area:
11.the centre in the cluster with the highest proportion (%) of 2 year olds in the cluster 

eligible for free nursery provision;
12.the centre in the cluster with the highest proportion (%) of children living in 

households in receipt of Child Tax Credit, Income Support or Job Seekers 
Allowance;

13.the centre in the cluster with the highest number per 1000 of children ‘in need’;
14.the centre in the cluster with the highest number per 1000 of children subject to a 

child protection plan;
15.the centre in the cluster with the highest number per 1000 of children ‘looked after’.

The level of achievement of young children in the centre’s reach area:
16.the centre in the cluster with the highest proportion (%) of children in the cluster 

not judged as achieving a ‘good level of development’ in Early Years Foundation 
Stage Profile 2013 (EYFSP ’13 and ‘14);

17.the centre area where the % point gap between children eligible for free school 
meals and their peers is widest (EYFSP ’13 and ‘14).

All  Children’s  Centre  buildings  are  relatively  new  and  condition  surveys confirmed that 
none require significant capital investment.

Page 11



Appendix 3 – Recommendations that were consulted on of which Children’s Centre 
to retain in each cluster

Locality Children’s Centre (CC)
Recommended to Retain

Children’s Centre
Cluster

Children’s Centres in the 
Cluster

Moorside CC Consett Leadgate, Benfieldside and 
MoorsideConsett and 

Stanley
Stanley CC Stanley Catchgate, Burnhope,

Stanley and Craghead

Bullion Lane CC Chester-le-Street Pelton and Bullion Lane

Brandon CC Deerness Valley Brandon, Ushaw Moor 
and Sacriston

Durham and 
Chester Le 
Street Laurel Avenue CC Durham Sherburn Hill, Laurel Avenue 

and Kelloe

Easington CC Easington Easington and Murton

Seaham CC Seaham Seaham
Horden CC Peterlee East Horden and Blackhall

Seascape CC Peterlee Central Seascape (Peterlee Centre) 
Howletch and Dene House

Peterlee and 
Seaham

Wheatley Hill CC Peterlee West Wheatley Hill, Wingate,
Shotton, Haswell, Thornley

Dean Bank CC Ferryhill Dean Bank, Chilton and 
Fishburn

Tudhoe Moor CC Spennymoor Tudhoe Moor, Middlestone
Moor and West Cornforth

Ferryhill and 
Newton 
Aycliffe

Newton Aycliffe CC Newton Aycliffe Newton Aycliffe and Shildon

St Helen Auckland CC Bishop Auckland St Helen Auckland, 
Woodhouse Close and 
Coundon

Bishop 
Auckland 
and Barnard 
Castle Willington CC Durham Dales Willington, Evenwood, 

Middleton-in-Teesdale 
and Weardale (Stanhope)

Page 12



V2.0

Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board

18 December 2014

Cabinet

17 December 2014

Update on the delivery of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan 4

Report of Corporate Management Team

Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council and all Cabinet 
collectively

Purpose of the Report
1 This report provides an update on the progress made at the end of September 

2014 on the delivery of the 2014/15 to 2016/17 Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP 4).

Background

2 Cabinet has received regular updates on the progress made by the Council in 
delivering the financial targets within MTFP 1, 2 and 3 which covered the 
period 2011/12 to 2016/17.  These updates have also outlined the approach 
being taken to ensure the Council has a rigorous programme management 
framework in place to make certain we meet our duties under the Equalities 
Act, we comply with our duties as an employer and we consult on and 
communicate the changes being made with the public and stakeholders.

3 MTFP 4 was agreed by Council in February 2014 and for 2014/15 the savings 
target is just over £23m.  This forms part of the overall savings target for the 
period from 2011/12 to 2016/17 of around £224m.

Progress to date

4 Delivery of the MTFP programme remains very challenging for the Council 
and the savings for 2014/15 represents an increase of 10% on the savings 
required in 2013/14.

5 Through the robust approach we continue to take in managing the savings 
programme, we remain within plan in meeting the savings targets and 
therefore the savings required for 2014/15 are on track.  By 30 September 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



V2.0

2014, over 82% of the target has been met, which is up from 60% in the first 
quarter, with £4.6m of savings having been achieved in the second quarter, 
making the actual savings so far for 14/15 £18.8m.  Since April 2011 we have 
now made almost £133m of savings.  

6 The main areas savings have been made in this period include the consistent 
and effective application of existing eligibility criteria and the increased use of 
intermediate care services within Children’s and Adults Services, along with 
the outcomes of the previous review of Home to School transport policies as 
the new school year falls within this review period.  There has also been a 
reduction in funding, grants and awards for museums across the county.

7 Further savings also continue to be realised through internal restructures 
across the Council.  

Consultation 

8 Consultation with the public and other stakeholders remains an important 
element in the MTFP programme.  Within the second quarter, a 12 week 
public consultation commenced on the Review of the Children’s Centres 
(Early Years).  This consultation however concerns changes to service 
provision to improve outcomes rather than to deliver MTFP savings,  although 
it is anticipated that financial savings will result from the final outcome. 

HR implications

9 By the end of the second quarter of 2014/15, we have concluded 65 ER/VR 
applications, deleted 58 vacant posts and  made 98 employees redundant as 
a result of the MTFP proposals.   The majority of the HR reductions resulting 
from  MTFP4 savings were realised during 2013/14 and were included in 
previous figures provided to Members. This reflects our strategy of delivering 
savings early where possible.  

10 The total impact on the workforce through reduced posts continues to remain 
in line with the original projections of 1,950 posts being removed by the end of 
2014/15.   Since 2011 a total of 980 ER/VR applications have been accepted, 
426 vacant posts deleted and 443 compulsory redundancies made.

11 The Council continued to support employees affected by the MTFP savings 
plans and we have found 389 employees alternative employment through the 
Council’s redeployment process.

12 Employees are also continuing to apply for ER/VR and to date we have 199 
expressions of interest which we are actively monitoring to try to support 
where we can, as an alternative to compulsory redundancies.

13 Information recorded for staff leaving the council during quarter 2 through 
compulsory redundancy shows 88% were female, 4% declared a disability 
and 93% were white British with 7% not disclosing their ethnicity.  Of those 
leaving the authority through ER/VR 65% were female which is more in 
keeping with the overall workforce profile, 10% had disclosed a disability and 
83% were white British however 17% had not disclosed their ethnicity.

Page 14



V2.0

Equality Impact Assessments 

14 Equality impact assessments (EIAs) continue to form a key part of the 
ongoing MTFP process. A number of the initial screenings were provided to 
Cabinet in January 2014 and these are updated where necessary during the 
year to take account of consultation responses and additional evidence; the 
updates also include information on any mitigating actions.

15 Action plans from equality impact assessments are monitored on a quarterly 
basis. The impact assessments and action plans are also reviewed during the 
decision making process, for example, updated EIAs are provided where 
Cabinet receive a report ahead of consultation and where a further report is 
received with any final recommendations.

Conclusions

16 The Council remains in a strong position to meet its current financial 
challenges and its approach of planning early and robustly managing the 
implementation of the changes ensures that we remain ahead of the savings 
target requirements. 

17 The Council has delivered £18.8m of the savings for 2014/15 (over 82% of the 
£23m target) which amount to almost £133m in savings made since 2011. 

Recommendations
18 Members are recommended to note the contents of this report and the 

progress being made in delivering MTFP4.

Contact:        Roger Goodes, Head of Policy & Communications 
                      Tel: 03000 268050            

Page 15



V2.0

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – The delivery of the MTFP involves cumulative saving of approximately 
£224m over the period from 2011 to 2017 of which nearly £133m has been delivered 
to date in 2011/12, 2012/13, 2013/14 and 2014/15.  

Staffing – Where the proposals affect staff, full consultation is undertaken and the 
trade unions consulted.  Wherever possible, staff reductions are done through 
voluntary means.  In addition, there has been a proactive management of vacancies 
to lessen the impact on staff and the Council has a redeployment process which 
continues to find alternative employment for a number of staff

Risk – The delivery of the MTFP is highlighted as one of the Council’s strategic risks 
and is monitored through the corporate risk management process.  In addition, risks 
for individual proposals are being monitored through the work undertaken to deliver 
the proposal.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – An Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the original 4 year MTFP plan and additional 
screening was undertaken for proposals which have been identified for subsequent 
MTFPs, together with any other changes made to the original plan.  In addition, for 
each proposal an EIA is undertaken as part of the decision-making before the 
proposal is implemented.  

 Accommodation - As proposals are planned the impact on accommodation is 
ascertained, with staff being consulted on any moves as part of the process.  The 
anticipated loss of 1950 posts from the Authority will mean a requirement for less 
accommodation and the Office Accommodation Team has built this into the Office 
Accommodation Strategy.

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – A full consultation with a range of stakeholders was undertaken on 
the MTFP prior to its agreement and again in 2013.  In addition, where appropriate 
for individual proposals, internal and external consultation plans are developed so 
that consultation informs the decision making process.

Procurement – A number of the proposals involve the changing of existing contracts 
and this work is being taken forward through the Council’s agreed procurement 
processes.

Disability Issues – Any disability impacts are being picked up through the Equality 
Impact Assessments undertaken.

Legal Implications – The legal implications of any decisions required are being 
considered as part of the delivery of the proposals.

Page 16



Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board

18 December 2014

Quarter 2 2014/15 
Performance Management Report 

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader

Purpose of the Report
1. To present progress against the council’s corporate basket of performance 

indicators and report other significant performance issues for the second quarter 
of 2014/15 covering the period July to September 2014. 

Background

2. The report sets out an overview of performance and progress by Altogether 
priority theme. Key performance indicator progress is reported against two 
indicator types which comprise of:

a. Key target indicators – targets are set for indicators where improvements can 
be measured regularly and where improvement can be actively influenced by 
the council and its partners (see Appendix 3, table 1); and

b. Key tracker indicators – performance will be tracked but no targets are set for 
indicators which are long-term and/or which the council and its partners only 
partially influence (see Appendix 3, table 2). 

3. The report continues to incorporate a stronger focus on volume measures in our 
performance framework.  This allows us to better quantify productivity and to 
monitor the effects of reductions in resources and changes in volume of activity.  
Charts detailing some of the key volume measures which form part of the 
council’s corporate basket of performance indicators are presented in Appendix 4.

Developments since Last Quarter

4. A corporate performance indicator guide has been produced which provides full 
details of indicator definitions and data sources.  This is available to view from the 
intranet or can be requested from the Corporate Planning and Performance Team 
at performance@durham.gov.uk.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Executive Summary
Overview
5. During the second quarter period 73% of our target indicators have shown either 

an improvement or have maintained current performance and 78% are 
approaching, meeting or exceeding target. This is an improvement from quarter 
one when 65% of indicators had improved or maintained performance and 67% 
were approaching, meeting or exceeding target. Performance for tracker 
indicators is less positive as 63% improved or maintained, reflecting the ongoing 
impact of the economic downturn on the county. 90% of Council Plan actions 
have been achieved or are on target to be achieved by the deadline, less then 
quarter one when 93% of actions had been achieved or were on target.

6. For the Altogether Wealthier theme, performance is strong on target indicators 
but more mixed on tracker indicators. Strong performance can be seen in the 
Altogether Better for Children and Young People theme with educational 
attainment again above the national average. The Altogether Greener theme is 
positive with increases in street and environmental cleanliness and Altogether 
Better Council is progressing well. Performance in the Altogether Healthier and 
Safer themes is more mixed, in particular the continuing decline in smoking 
quitters and NHS health checks as well as increased levels of crime this quarter.      

7. Figures confirm the UK economy grew again this quarter, surpassing its pre-
recession peak from 2008, although County Durham continues to be affected by 
high unemployment. The employment rate has again shown slight improvement 
but remains worse than last year, national and regional rates. Youth 
unemployment has fallen substantially from last year but there was a slight rise 
from quarter one reflecting the end of the academic year.  The number of long 
term JSA claimants continues to fall, although the proportion claiming for more 
than 12 months remains higher than the national rate at 33.2% of all JSA 
claimants. 

8. More new homes have been completed compared to last year although there 
were fewer compared to last quarter. The number of affordable homes completed 
and empty properties brought back into use through council intervention have 
exceeded targets. Homeless indicators generally have improved, although the 
proportion of preventions has decreased this period.

9. Provisional data show that educational attainment within County Durham remains 
high with 57.1% of pupils achieving five or more A*-C GCSEs or equivalent 
including English and maths (based on new indicator definition) and  98.7% of 
pupils achieving two A levels at grade A*-E (Level 3) or equivalent. Both 
attainment levels are better than national averages. The achievement gap 
between pupils eligible for pupil premium and those not eligible is narrowing at 
key stages 2 and 4.

10.There have been reductions in the rates of looked after children and children with 
a child protection plan compared to the corresponding period last year. Rates are 
better than regionally but worse than nationally. Looked after children case 
reviews within timescale remain high and within target and child protection case 
reviews undertaken within timescale have improved slightly but remain below 
target and slightly worse than nationally and regionally. Children in need referrals 

Page 18



that occurred within 12 months of the previous referral have improved and met 
target but are still worse than nationally. 

11.The council has made a lot of progress in working with troubled families, 
achieving reductions in crime/anti-social behaviour, improved school attendance 
or moving back into employment. A total of 835 families achieved the 
government’s results criteria to August 2014 which equates to 63.3% of County 
Durham's overall target of 1,320 families by May 2015. This has resulted in 
£727,600 of payment by results claims. 

12.Adult care measures show reablement is continuing to be successful with 89.8% 
of older people still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement/rehabilitation services. There has also been an improvement in the 
proportion of people who have no ongoing care needs following completion of a 
reablement package to 64.6%. 

13.There has been improvement in the rate of delayed transfers of care with the rate 
in County Durham of 8.3 per 100,000 population being better than the England 
average (9.7). Although there was a slight rise in those attributable to adult social 
care to 1.5 per 100,000 the rate remains much better than the England average 
(3.1). 

14.Some key health measures show cause for concern with the number of smoking 
quitters deteriorating further from last year. Provisional figures from the Stop 
Smoking Service show that there were 817 smoking quitters this period, which 
failed to achieve target, in line with the national trend of decreasing quitters.  
From April to June 1.5% of eligible people received an NHS health check, which 
failed to achieve target and is worse than the same period last year, national 
levels and the regional average.

15.The number of people successfully completing alcohol treatment (464) is 
deteriorating and remains below national levels.  Successful completions of drug 
treatment also remain below target and national levels.  Between March 2013 and 
February 2014 there were 93 successful completions for opiate use and 190 for 
non-opiate use.

16.Crime levels have risen again this period with a 6% increase in overall crime. 
Violence against the person has had the most impact on the total rise in crime. 
Serious or major crimes and victim based crimes have increased although there 
have been reductions in the majority of theft categories, although shoplifting has 
increased. Historic crimes of physical and sexual abuse are continuing to have an 
effect on crime levels. 

17.There has been an improvement in the number of anti-social behaviour (ASB) 
incidents reported to the police. Levels of alcohol related ASB and alcohol related 
violent crimes continue to decrease.

18.The number of people killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents has 
increased by 19 this quarter. In quarter two, child casualties increased 
significantly as a result of one accident, although the total number of child 
casualties between January and June is consistent with the same period last 
year. 

Page 19



19.Key environmental indicators show that good progress has been made in 
diverting municipal waste from landfill although the percentage of household 
waste re-used, recycled or composted is below target and has deteriorated from 
12 months earlier. Contamination of recycling bins continues to impact on the 
recycling rate. There have been more fly-tipping incidents this period.

20.The council continues to improve its performance in a number of corporate areas 
measured by our Altogether Better Council basket of indicators. The Revenues 
and Benefits Service has maintained the improved claims processing 
performance delivered in quarter 1, with processing times better than target and 
the same point last year. Customer service indicators show improved telephone 
handling and a high number of customers have been seen at our customer 
access points within the 15 minute target. 

21.Freedom of Information requests processed within statutory timescales remain 
below the national target. Sickness levels have risen slightly and remain worse 
than target. Despite substantial efforts to increase employee appraisal activity 
across the council, the rate of appraisals carried out in the last year remains 
persistently below target.

Volume of Activity
22.We have selected a number of volume indicators to monitor demand on services 

and the following has been observed this quarter. The council has again seen 
increases in demand for key frontline services concerning the number of fly 
tipping incidents reported with a slight increase in the number of people 
rehoused. If volume increases it may be difficult to maintain performance, 
whereas if demand decreases performance should be able to be maintained, as 
shown in customer access points. There are areas however where service 
efficiency is improving , where service demand has increased but performance 
has been maintained or improved, such as benefits processing times and areas 
where more focus is needed where volume has decreased and performance has 
also decreased, such as planning applications.

23.The overall trend for the number of people registered on the Durham Key Options 
service who have been rehoused has shown a continual increase over the last 
three years (Appendix 4, chart 2). Welfare reforms continue to have an impact in 
this area. The volume of fly-tipping incidents reported across the county has also 
shown further increases over six consecutive quarters (Appendix 4, chart 8).

24. Increases are also evident in the number of looked after children cases which 
show a slight increasing trend over the last three quarters following a long period 
of decline in numbers.  However, the volume of cases this quarter still remains 
below the level reported at the same point last year (Appendix 4, chart 3).  

25.Performance has dipped whilst demand has increased in Requests for 
information under the Freedom of Information Act or Environmental Information 
Regulations (Appendix 4, chart 15). The number of requests received has 
increased this period compared with the same period last year. Performance still 
remains below the national target.

26.Performance has improved as demand for services decreased in the number of 
customers seen at our customer access points (Appendix 4, chart 14).  Demand 
for face-to-face contact has reduced and performance has remained high. There 

Page 20



has also been a slight decrease in contact received via emails and web forms of 
3.9% compared to the same quarter last year.

27.The volume of children in need referrals has seen a reduction this period 
compared to the previous quarter and same period last year with the actual 
number of repeat referrals also reducing and being significantly lower than those 
in the same period in 2013/14.  The reduction in re-referrals can be attributable to 
the introduction of the First Contact Service which provides a single point of 
access to Children’s Services. The performance in terms of re-referrals within 12 
months has improved this period, achieving target and is better than the same 
period last year and the figure reported in quarter 1 (Appendix 4, chart 4).

28.Areas where we see that performance improved as demand for services 
increased are observed in:

a. The volume of telephone calls received (Appendix 4, chart 13). In comparison 
with last quarter the number of calls has increased. The percentage of calls 
being answered within three minutes is well within target and has remained 
high.

b. Benefits – new claims and changes of circumstances (Appendix 4, charts 9 -
12). The volume of new claims and changes of circumstances for both 
housing benefit and council tax reduction has increased whilst processing 
times are significantly better than last quarter and the same point last year.

29.An area where performance has dipped and demand has reduced is evident in 
planning applications (Appendix 4, chart 1). The volume of planning applications 
received by the council has shown a steady decline over the last four quarters but 
performance has also been falling although this has remained within target.

Welfare Reform and Demand
30.The Government has now announced that Universal Credit will be introduced 

nationally during 2015.  As it currently stands, Universal Credit is to be rolled-out 
in parts of the North East (Hartlepool and Newcastle-upon-Tyne) from March next 
year and pilots are being introduced to explore the linkage between Universal 
Credit and crisis support in Northumberland and the provision of face-to-face 
support in South Tyneside.  We should hear shortly when Universal Credit is to 
be rolled out in Durham. We are arranging meetings with the Department for 
Work and Pensions in order to begin to plan how we respond.  

31.Discretionary Housing Payments spend continues to be monitored and the latest 
figures, including commitments, projects an overspend at the end of the year of 
£39,277 (as at 19 October – Budget £1,096,133 which includes an earmarked 
reserve of £90,951 brought forward from 2013/14).

32.October’s welfare assistance spend has not yet been received so the latest 
figures are as at the end of September which show £529,549 against an annual 
budget of £1,592,057. Projections based on September’s run rate indicate a 
potential spend of £1,009,650 (down £77,646 from August’s projection). The 
number of awards continues to fluctuate significantly month on month.  We are 
currently looking to introduce Asda food parcels as part of the option for support. 
These will be delivered to the claimant home address and include menu cards 
and other useful information.  Over 69% of the settlement grants are now being 

Page 21



provided wholly or partly through the county’s furniture recycling centres at 
Chilton (County Durham Furniture Help Scheme) and Horden (East Durham 
Partnership).

33.The Government is currently consulting on arrangements for funding for welfare 
assistance from April 2015. This consultation has arisen following a legal 
challenge of their previous announcement to stop funding from next year. The 
Association of North East Councils forwarded a regional response and Durham 
has also responded. 

34.A cabinet report is also being prepared on poverty across the county and how the 
council is responding. This follows the report to Cabinet in October which 
identified that the council’s welfare reform steering group was to expand its remit 
to look at the wider issues of poverty within the county.

Page 22



Overall Performance of the Council 

Key Performance Indicators

Source: Service performance monitoring data 

35. In quarter 2 2014/15, 78% (56) of target indicators approached, met or exceeded 
targets with 73% (52) of target indicators improved or remained static. 
Performance in relation to tracker indicators, many of which reflect the local 
economy, was less positive with just 63% improving or remaining static compared 
to the same period last year.

36.Areas where there has been improvement in performance in terms of direction of 
travel compared to 12 months earlier are:

 Affordable homes delivered
 Success rate of adult skills funded provision
 Council owned housing that is empty including that which has been 

empty for six months
 Business enquiries handled and businesses engaged with

Page 23



 Proportion of the working age population currently not in work who want 
a job

 JSA claimants claiming for 1 year or more
 JSA claimants aged 18-24
 First time entrants to the youth justice system
 Looked after children cases reviewed within timescale
 People who have no ongoing care needs following completion of 

provision of a reablement package
 Alcohol related anti-social behaviour incidents and violent crime
 Land and highways assessed as having deposits of litter / detritus / dog 

fouling that fall below an acceptable level
 Municipal waste diverted from landfill
 Recorded actionable defects on carriageways and footways repaired 

within 24 hours (category 1)
 Telephone calls answered within 3 minutes
 Time taken to process new and changes of circumstances for council 

tax reduction claims and changes of circumstances for housing benefit 
claims

 Tenant arrears
 Council owned business floor space that is occupied and income 

generated from this

37.Key issues in terms of areas where there has been a deterioration in performance 
in terms of direction of travel compared to 12 months earlier are:

 Planning applications determined within deadline
 Proportion of homes completed in and near all major settlements
 Passenger journeys on park and ride buses and the bus network
 Employment rate
 Apprenticeships started by young people resident in County Durham
 Teenage conception rate
 Smoking quitters
 NHS health checks 
 Successful completions of alcohol treatment
 Overall crime rate
 Serious or major crimes
 Robbery and victim based crimes 
 Household waste that is reused, recycled or composted
 Number of registered and approved feed in tariff installations
 Fly-tipping incidents reported
 Business rates collected in year
 Invoices paid within 30 days
 Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental Information 

Regulations (EIR) requests responded to within statutory deadlines

Page 24



 Appraisals completed
 Sickness absence (excluding school staff)

Progress against Council Plan Actions - Quarter 2 2014/15

3%

6%

11%

24%

9%

22%

11%

8%

22%

11%

8%

14%

3%

1%

75%

83%

92%

78%

78%

65%

76%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Altogether Better Council

Altogether Greener

Altogether Safer

Altogether Healthier

Altogether Better for CYP

Altogether Wealthier

 Total

Behind Target Completed Deleted On Target

38.Monitoring of the Council Plan is carried out on a quarterly basis to ensure that 
actions are being completed.  Overall, second quarter performance shows 14% 
(21 out of 146) of actions have been achieved and 76% (111 actions) are on 
target. 9% (13 actions) are behind target and 1% has been deleted. Further detail 
of these actions is highlighted throughout the report.  The Altogether Better 
Council theme and Altogether Healthier themes have achieved the highest 
percentage of actions completed (22%). The Altogether Wealthier theme has the 
highest percentage behind target (24%), which amounts to nine actions. 

Page 25



Service Plan Actions 

Service 
grouping

Total 
number 

of 
service 

plan 
actions

Number 
of 

actions 
met or 

exceeded 
target

% of 
actions 
met or 

exceeded 
target

Number 
on 

target

% of 
actions 

on 
target

Number 
behind 
target

% of 
actions 
behind 
target

Deleted
% of 

actions 
deleted

ACE 74 25 34% 42 57% 5 7% 2 3%
CAS 130 26 20% 100 77% 4 3% 0 0%
NS 112 20 18% 83 74% 9 8% 0 0%
RED 114 8 7% 80 70% 25 22% 1 1%
RES 125 32 26% 84 67% 9 7% 0 0%

Total 555 111 20% 389 70% 52 9% 3 1%
Source: Service monitoring data

39.The table above shows that overall, 90% of service plan actions have either been 
achieved or are on target to be achieved by the deadline.   Actions which did not 
meet target equate to 9%.  There were three actions (1%) proposed to be deleted 
as they are no longer relevant.  The Children and Adults Services grouping has 
the highest percentage of actions achieved or on target (97%).  The Regeneration 
and Economic Development service grouping had the highest percentage of 
actions behind target (22%, 25 actions), followed by the Neighbourhood Services 
service grouping (8%, nine actions).

40.Reporting of these key actions is on an exception basis with a full copy of the 
exceptions, deletions, amendments and additions available on request from 
performance@durham.gov.uk

Risk Management 

41.Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s change agenda.  
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change programme 
and is incorporated into all significant change and improvement projects.  

42.The strategic risks identified as potential barriers to successfully achieving our 
objectives are detailed against each Altogether theme in the relevant sections of 
the report.  These risks have been identified using the following criteria:-

a. Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 
possible.

b. Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable.

c. Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable.

43.At 30 September 2014, there were 31 strategic risks. Since 30 June 2014, three 
new risks have been added and two removed, making a net increase of one. The 
following matrix categorises the strategic risks according to their net risk 
evaluation at 30 September 2014.  To highlight changes in each category during 
the last quarter, the number of risks at 30 June 2014 is shown in brackets.

Page 26

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Figure 4: Corporate Risk Heat Map 

Impact
Critical 2  (2) 1  (1) 3  (3) 1  (1)

Major 3  (3) 6  (4)

Moderate   8  (8) 5  (5) 1  (1) 

Minor 1  (1) 0  (1) 

Insignificant  

 Likelihood Remote Unlikely Possible Probable Highly 
Probable

Key risks

44.At a corporate strategic level, key risks to draw attention to, with their respective 
net risk evaluations shown in brackets, are:

a. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) savings projects, this will require further savings to be 
made from other areas, which may result in further service reductions and job 
losses (critical / possible).

b. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2017/18 will 
continue to have an increasing major impact on all council services (critical / 
highly probable).

c. Potential restitution of search fees going back to 2005 (moderate / highly 
probable).

d. The council could suffer significant adverse service delivery and financial 
impact if there are delays in the procurement and implementation of the new 
banking contract (critical / possible).

e. If the council were to fail to comply with Central Government's Public 
Services Network Code of Connection criteria, this would put some core 
business processes at risk, such as revenues and benefits, which rely on 
secure transfer of personal data (critical / possible).

45.Two risks have been removed from the register in this quarter.  This is due to 
management of the risks by the services as mitigating actions have been 
completed to reduce risks to a level where management now consider existing 
controls to be adequate.  

46.The implementation of additional mitigation on a number of risks has enabled the 
council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is 
detailed in the relevant sections of the report.

Page 27



Altogether Wealthier: Overview

Council Performance
47.Key achievements this quarter include:

a. The number of affordable homes delivered in quarter 2 (120) is better than 
the target (80) and performance 12 months earlier (78). In addition to this, 93 
units were delivered through the Help to Buy scheme. Following discussions 
with the Homes and Communities Agency, this scheme is not classed as 
affordable housing.  As these were included in the figure reported at quarter 
1, the figure for last quarter has been revised from 117 to 37. The total 
number of affordable homes delivered since April is 157, which remains 
higher than the corresponding period last year (138). The annual target of 
delivering 400 affordable homes remains unchanged as the service is 
confident that this will be achieved.

b. Since April, 61 empty properties have been brought back into use as a result 
of council intervention. This has exceeded the target of 43 and performance 
for the same time last year, when 52 properties had been improved. Officers 
are working with owners to bring a further 158 properties back into use. 

The Council Plan action to bring empty homes back into use through a 
targeted approach of environmental improvements and energy efficiency 
measures has been delayed from March 2015 until September 2015. An 
environmental improvement schedule, including small scale property 
improvement works now concentrated on the cluster localities of West Chilton 
and Dean Bank, is in place and resident and member consultation has 
commenced in the Chilton locality.  Both schemes for the minor improvement 
works will require at least 80% sign up from residents before agreement to 
proceed.  The environmental improvement works are now programmed to 
commence in December. 

c. Provisional data for the 2013/14 academic year indicate that the overall 
success rate of adult skills funded provision was 88.2%, which is an 
improvement from 85.9% in the previous academic year. Performance 

Page 28



exceeds the 86% target and is better than the latest national benchmarking 
for the 2012/13 academic year (83.5%).

d. A further 53 apprenticeships have been started through Durham County 
Council schemes this quarter. This brings the total since April to 90, achieving 
the profiled target (90) and exceeding performance for the corresponding 
period last year (71). 

e. The number of business enquiries handled, which is dependent upon 
businesses contacting Business Durham, has increased significantly from 
237 last quarter to 403 this quarter, which exceeded the target of 300. There 
were also 263 pro-active business engagements during the quarter, including 
support for individual companies and engagement through the business park 
communities. Performance is better than the target of 150 and the 
corresponding period last year (104).

f. Tracker indicators show:

i. This quarter 1,290 people registered on Durham Key Options have 
been rehoused. Performance has increased slightly from 1,228 at 
quarter 1 and 1,224 from the corresponding period last year (see 
appendix 4, chart 2).

ii. The number of County Durham residents per 100,000 population aged 
over 18 starting a first degree has increased slightly from 161.4 in the 
2011/12 academic year to 162.2 in 2012/13. This is better than the 
North East rate of 148.53 however is worse than the England rate of 
218.2.

iii. Homeless indicators show that there has been a reduction in housing 
solutions presentations, applications and acceptances from quarter 1 to 
quarter 2, although the number of preventions has declined. 

As reported in quarter 1, prior to 2014/15 only presentations from the 
Housing Advice and Prevention Team were included in these 
indicators. Following the restructure of the Housing Solutions Service, 
presentations are now also being reported for the Family Intervention 
Project, Family Wise, Home Improvement Agency and the Private 
Sector Initiatives Team. Data reported prior to quarter 1 is now not 
comparable. Quarter 2 data show:

 The number of presentations has fallen from 2,611 last quarter to 
2,376 this quarter.

 The proportion of statutory housing solutions applications has 
improved, reducing from 7.8% (202 applications) in quarter 1 to 
7.2% (172 applications) in quarter 2.

 The level of acceptances of a statutory duty has improved slightly, 
reducing from 2.4% (62 acceptances) last quarter to 2.2% (51 
acceptances) this quarter. 

 The proportion of preventions has decreased from 15% (391 
preventions) in quarter 1 to 13.6% (322 preventions) in quarter 2. 

Page 29



iv. The proportion of council owned housing that is empty has improved, 
reducing from 1.9% in quarter 2 2013/14 to 1.5% (267 properties) this 
quarter. There are 30 properties that are not available to let and have 
been empty for six months or more, equating to 0.16% of council 
owned housing. This is better than the corresponding period last year 
(0.19%) but has increased from last quarter (0.13%).

g. Progress has been made with the following Council Plan and service plan 
actions:

i. The County Durham Plan, due for completion by September 2015 and 
stage one of the Examination in Public completed in November 2014. 
The programmes for stages two and three of the examination (which 
includes the Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule) are not 
yet set but are still expected to run into early 2015.

ii. The preferred option for the future of council housing across County 
Durham is to be pursued by March 2015. Following Cabinet agreement 
to proceed to the second stage of the formal consultation, a ballot of all 
secured and introductory tenants was undertaken. 11,316 tenants cast 
a vote (51.2% turnout). 82% (9,149) of the valid vote (11,159) voted yes 
to the transfer proposal, which was ratified by Cabinet who agreed to 
progress with the transfer of its housing stock and related assets. 
Representatives from the council and the proposed new group of 
landlords will now work together along with advisers from both sides to 
develop a transfer agreement. 

iii. The Gypsy Roma Traveller sites at Adventure Lane, West Rainton; 
Green Lane, Bishop Auckland; Tower Road, Stanley and Drum Lane, 
Birtley are being developed. Refurbishment is underway at Green Lane, 
Bishop Auckland.  Although the programme is running slightly behind, 
elements of the programme are now running in tandem in order to 
recover the time to enable completion for the expected date of January 
2015. Work has been completed on the refurbishment of Drum Lane, 
Birtley and the handover of the site has been undertaken.   

iv. The Digital Durham superfast broadband roll out project won 
Collaborator of the Year at the BT Dynamites 14 Awards for technology 
in the North East. Digital Durham was described as a unique and 
complex programme due to the involvement of ten councils and the 
nature of BT’s infrastructure. The Government’s Broadband Delivery 
UK Broadband Projects Assurance Board carried out its six monthly 
assurance on the programme in September and reported a high level of 
confidence that the required level of contract management is in place 
for the Digital Durham project. 

48.The key performance improvement issues for this theme are:

a. This quarter 346 potential jobs have been created through projects with 
existing businesses, working with tenants and two further inward investment 
developments (at Seaham and Lanchester). However performance failed to 
achieve the quarterly target of 600. Together with the two inward investments 
reported last quarter, the number of potential jobs created since April stands 
at 860, however this is less than the profiled target of 1,200. This includes the 

Page 30



country’s first digital only bank, Atom Bank, which has decided to establish its 
headquarters in the Durham Aykley Heads area.  

b. Tracker indicators show: 

i. As at September 2014, the employment rate has shown slight 
improvement again, rising from 66.2% (225,600 people) last quarter to 
66.7% this quarter (227,100 people). However, this is worse than for 
the corresponding period last year (67.1%) when 1,200 more people 
were employed. The County Durham rate remains worse than the 
national, regional and nearest statistical neighbour rates of 73.6%, 
68.1% and 69.7% respectively.

ii. The proportion of the working age population not in work who want a 
job has improved, reducing from 13.7% (April 2013 to March 2014), to 
13.3% (July 2013 to June 2014), representing 43,600 people. This 
shows an improvement from 15.5% for the corresponding period last 
year, however it remains worse than national (10.8%), regional (13.2%) 
and nearest statistical neighbour rates (11.9%).

iii. The number of people claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) has 
again reduced, from 9,385 last quarter, and now stands at 8,765.  This 
represents 2.7% of the working age population. Youth unemployment 
has fallen substantially from last year but this was a slight rise from 
quarter one reflecting the end of the academic year.  The number of 18-
24 year olds claiming JSA has increased from 2,580 in quarter 1 to 
2,720 in quarter 2 and represents 31% of all JSA claimants. This 
follows a trend seen in most years coinciding with the end of the 
academic year but is a considerable improvement on the corresponding 
period last year when 4,255 18-24 year olds were claiming JSA.

iv. The number of long term JSA claimants (2,910) continues to fall, 
although the proportion claiming for more than 12 months remains high 
at 33.2% of all JSA claimants. This has reduced from 3,365 claimants 
(35.85%) in June 2014 and is over 1,800 less than at the same time 
last year when there were 4,740 (36.1%) long term claimants. The 
County Durham rate remains higher than nationally (26.2%) and 
regionally (33.1%) although this is now slightly better than the nearest 
statistical neighbour rate (33.6%).

v. The number of net homes completed in County Durham has fallen from 
361 last quarter to 207 this quarter. This follows a similar trend to last 
year, although the total number of homes completed between April and 
September 2014 (568) is higher than last year (455). The number of 
commencements across the county increased significantly from 854 in 
2012/13 to 1,394 in 2013/14, showing that permissions are now being 
implemented. This quarter, 114 completions were in or near major 
settlements. Although this is slightly less than last quarter (128 
completions), the actual proportion increased from 35% to 51%, due to 
the lower number of overall completions in County Durham this quarter. 
In Durham City new home completions fell from 14 in quarter 1 to three 
in quarter 2, representing 1.4% of completions within the county. 

Page 31



Permissions for four main sites, with a total of 672 units in the city, are 
yet to be implemented.

vi. The gross value added (GVA) per capita, which is the amount of money 
generated by economic activity in the area per head of population, has 
improved from £12,661 in 2011 to £12,875 in 2012. However this is 
significantly less than the regional (£16,091) and national (£21,937) 
figures.

c. A large number of key Council Plan actions have not achieved target in this 
theme, which include: 

i. The development plan of Elvet Waterside was due to be agreed by 
October 2014 but has been deferred until August 2015 after the County 
Durham Plan examination.  

ii. The delivery plan for Milburngate House, due to be completed by June 
2015, has been delayed until September 2015. This is due to delays in 
the process for securing planning consent.  

iii. The relocation of the bus station on North Road, Durham was due to be 
completed by December 2015. The necessary land acquisition has still 
not been completed, which means programming of the highway works 
have been delayed. The action is now due to be completed in May 
2016. 

iv. The construction of a new railway station at Horden on the Durham 
Coast Railway Line was due for completion by March 2016 but has now 
been delayed until August 2017.  Consultation is currently taking place 
with external partners regarding commissioning of the detailed 
business case and there is a continued delay with Network Rail 
approvals.  

v. Development of a Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Strategy to 
improve the standards and quality of HMO accommodation within the 
private rented sector was due by July 2014. The scope of the strategy 
has changed and now encompasses a broader remit which requires 
involvement of other service areas. The deadline has therefore been 
changed to September 2015, to allow for the wider scope and to fit in 
with other priorities in these service areas.

vi. The development and implementation of a real time travel information 
system across the county was due to be completed by September 2014 
but there have been delays due to issues with the bus signs, which are 
currently being investigated. Real time information will now be available 
from all enabled stops in County Durham in December 2014. 

vii. The action to complete road access improvements at Front Street, 
Stanley was due for completion by December 2014. This has been 
deleted because the initial project was rejected at public enquiry and 
will now not go ahead.

49.There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme 

Page 32



Altogether Better for Children and Young People: Overview

Council Performance
50.Key achievements this quarter include:

a. Continuing high levels of educational achievement. Provisional data for the 
2013/14 academic year show that 57.1% of pupils achieved five or more A*-C 
GCSEs or equivalent including English and maths. Durham’s performance is 
better than the provisional national (55.9%) and North East (54%) averages. 
There has been a change in GCSEs from September 2013 in that a pupil’s 
first entry in a particular subject will count towards performance figures when 
before their best result counted, as many pupils sat exams more than once. 
In 2014 a significant number of qualifications which had previously counted 
towards the attainment of five or more A*-C GCSEs are no longer eligible. 
This means that past data is not comparable. In terms of A levels, provisional 
data for the 2013/14 academic year indicate that 98.7% of pupils achieved 
two A levels at grade A*-E (level 3) or equivalent.  This is achieving the target 
of 98.5% and is better than the 2012/13 academic year national (97.9%) and 
regional (98.2%) averages. Performance is similar to 98.9% in the previous 
year.

b. The achievement gap between pupils eligible for pupil premium and pupils 
not eligible is narrowing. Provisional data for the 2013/14 academic year 
show that 84.7% of Durham pupils not eligible for pupil premium funding 
achieved level 4 in reading, writing and maths at key stage 2 compared to 
68.9% of pupils eligible for pupil premium funding, which resulted in an 
achievement gap of 15.8 percentage points (ppts).  The gap has narrowed 
from 21ppts in the previous year and is better than the 2012/13 academic 
year national performance of 18ppts. 66.9% of Durham pupils not eligible for 
pupil premium funding achieved five A*-C GCSE's including English and 
maths at key stage 4 compared to 38.1% of pupils eligible for pupil premium 
funding, which resulted in an achievement gap of 28.8 ppts. This gap has 
narrowed from 30 ppts in the previous year.

c. Provisional data for the 2013/14 academic year indicate that 57% of pupils in 
the early years foundation stage achieved a good level of development, 
which is a significant improvement from 42% in the previous year.  

Page 33



Performance is better than the 2013/14 academic year averages for the North 
East and statistical neighbours, both of which are 56%. National performance 
is 60% and the gap between Durham and the national rate has narrowed 
from 10 ppts to 3 ppts.

d. Between April and June 2014, 17.9% of mothers were smoking at the time of 
delivery, which is an improvement from the corresponding period of the 
previous year (21.6%). Performance is achieving target (20.5%) and is better 
than the Durham, Darlington and Tees Area Team rate of 20.1% but worse 
than the England average of 11.5%.

e. As of August 2014, 835 families have had a successful intervention via the 
Stronger Families Programme. This equates to 63.3% of County Durham's 
overall target of 1,320 families by May 2015, a target which is expected to be 
achieved. This has resulted in £727,600 of payment by results claims. Based 
upon the latest available comparator data (as of May 2014), Durham is 
ranked 46 out of 152 local authorities nationally in terms of the percentage of 
families achieving the results criteria against target (51.2%) and is above the 
national (44.8%), regional (49.8%) and statistical neighbour averages 
(50.4%).

f. Provisional data for April to September 2014 indicate that there were 111 first 
time entrants (FTEs) to the youth justice system (249 per 100,000 
population).  This is well within the locally agreed quarterly target of 155 FTEs 
(340 per 100,000) and is an improvement from 118 FTEs during the same 
period of the previous year.

g. Data for looked after children case reviews undertaken between April and 
September 2014 show that 586 out of 593 cases were reviewed within 
timescale, which equals 98.8%. Performance has achieved the target of 
97.8% and is an improvement from 97.8% during the same period of the 
previous year.  During quarter 2 there were four reviews that were not held 
within timescale, which related to seven children, however, all reviews have 
now been completed.

h. Tracker indicators show:

i. At 30 September 2014 there were 611 looked after children, which 
equates to a rate of 61 per 10,000 population. This is a slight reduction 
from 61.9 at the same point in the previous year. Durham’s rate is 
better than the March 2014 averages for the North East and statistical 
neighbours (both 81) but slightly higher than the England rate (60) (see 
Appendix 4, chart 3).

ii. At 30 September 2014 there were 385 children subject to a child 
protection plan, which equates to a rate of 38.4 per 10,000 population 
and is a reduction from 42.4 at the same point in the previous year. 
Durham’s rate is better than the March 2013 North East (51.1) and 
statistical neighbours (42.2) averages but worse than the England 
average (37.9). The reduction is being investigated to provide 
assurance that all children who require protection receive it.   

51.The key performance improvement issues for this theme are:

a. Provisional data for the 2013/14 academic year indicate that five out of 43 
looked after children in the cohort achieved five A*-C GCSEs, including 

Page 34



English and maths, which equals 11.6%.  Comparative data is not yet 
available for this measure. There were nine young people in the cohort who 
were targeted to achieve five A*-C GCSEs including English and maths and 
four did not achieve this target. 

b. The percentage of children in need referrals from April to September 2014 
which occurred within 12 months of a previous referral is 26.3%.  Although 
this is achieving target (28%) and is a reduction from the same period last 
year (30.6%) and from the figure reported in quarter 1 (36.6%), Durham's rate 
is higher than 2012/13 averages nationally (24.9%) and regionally (22.5%) 
(Appendix 4, chart 4). The reduction in re-referrals can be attributed to the 
introduction of the First Contact Service, which has provided a single point of 
access to Children's Services, bringing together statutory services with those 
provided by One Point.  This work is underpinned by ensuring thresholds are 
robustly managed and monitored in First Contact, to ensure cases are not 
unnecessarily escalated into statutory services.  In addition, the development 
of the Durham Early Help Strategy enables all services working with children 
to actively focus on early support to children and families. This enables 
referrers and families to access early help services quickly, avoiding 
unnecessary referrals to Children’s Services.

c. Data for child protection case reviews undertaken between April and 
September 2014 show that 268 out of 280 cases were reviewed within 
timescale, which equals 95.7%. Performance has improved slightly from the 
same period of the previous year (95.5%) and is better than the 2012/13 
statistical neighbours' average of 94.8% but worse than both the England 
average of 96.2% and the regional average of 96.6%. During the most recent 
quarter (July to September 2014) there were three reviews that were not 
within timescale, which related to nine children.  All reviews have now been 
completed. Each individual case that is not reviewed within timescale is 
looked at within the service and systems have been put in place to ensure 
that reviews are rearranged within timescales.  

d. The tracker indicator for under 18 conception rate shows an increase in 
teenage conceptions. The latest provisional quarterly data for April to June 
2013 show the County Durham rate was 38.9 per 1,000 population (84 
conceptions), which is an increase from 34.4 during the same period of 2012.  
This is higher than both the North East (32.1) and England rates (25.2). 
Quarterly data for under 18 conceptions can be variable and should be 
viewed with caution, as the rate can fluctuate.  The long term trend for under 
18 conceptions shows that the rate per 1,000 population in County Durham 
improved from 54.4 in 1998 to 33.7 in 2012, a reduction of 38.1%.  Over the 
same period, the national rate decreased by 40.8% and the North East by 
37.2%. A social norms project took place in secondary schools across County 
Durham, which aimed to correct identified misperceptions of young people 
about sex and relationships to help change behaviour.  

e. A key Council Plan action concerning the development of the council's Fixed 
Play Policy was due to be completed by October 2014 but there have been 
further delays of the project.

 
52.There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.

Page 35



Altogether Healthier: Overview

Council Performance
53.Key achievements this quarter include:

a. The proportion of older people who were still at home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services remains high. Of those 
older people discharged between January and June 2014, 89.8% (692 of 
771) remained at home three months later.  This is exceeding the 2014/15 
target (85.4%) and has improved from the same period of last year (88.5%).  
Performance is better than the 2013/14 provisional England average of 
81.9%, the North East rate of 87.2%, and the statistical neighbours’ average 
of 85.3%.

b. Between April and September 2014, 64.6% of service users (382 of 591) 
required no ongoing care following completion of their reablement package.  
This is an improvement from 62% during the same period of the previous 
year and exceeded the target of 55%. 

c. Data from the Active People Survey for April 2012 to April 2014 show that 
28.2% of the adult population were participating in at least 30 minutes sport 
and active recreation of at least moderate intensity on at least 3 days a week. 
This is a significant increase since 2005/6 when 20.4% participated and is 
better than the average proportion for England (25.2%) and the North East 
(25.1%).

d. Tracker indicators show:

i. In the five sample days in April and August 2014 there were 171 
delayed transfers of care which equates to a rate of 8.3 delays per 
100,000 per day. This is an improvement from 10.3 per 100,000 in the 
same period in 2013 and is better than the England average for the 
period of ten delays per 100,000.

ii. Of these delayed transfers of care, 31 were fully or partially attributable 
to adult social care, which equates to a rate of 1.5 per 100,000 per day. 

Page 36



Although this has increased from 0.9 in the same period in 2013, it is 
still better than the England average for the period of 3.2 delays per 
100,000. 

54.The key performance improvement issues for this theme are:
a. Latest provisional figures for the Stop Smoking Service show that there were 

817 smoking quitters between April and June 2014, which equates to 191 per 
100,000 population. Performance is below the target of 293 per 100,000 
(1,251 quitters) and is less than the 1,092 quitters during the same period of 
the previous year.  Fresh, the regional tobacco programme funded by all North 
East local authorities, re-ran the ‘Don’t be the 1’ media campaign in August 
and September 2014. This included television and radio adverts and a 
dedicated website, which provides information on the benefits of quitting, 
signposts smokers to Stop Smoking Services, and enabled them to sign up to 
Stoptober.  The aim of this campaign was to increase concern levels among 
local smokers in order to increase sign-ups and registrations with the Stop 
Smoking Service during Stoptober. Stoptober provided smokers with a range 
of free tools including a new stop smoking pack through the post, a 28-day 
mobile phone app, text support with daily updates, quitting advice and tips for 
coping, as well as encouragement and support through social media 
channels.

b. From April to June 2014, 1.5% of eligible people received an NHS health 
check, which did not achieve target and is a reduction from 2.4% the same 
period of 2013. This is below both the national (2.2%) and regional (2.1%) 
averages. Performance on health checks has been impacted by a delay in 
issuing all public health contracts due to legal issues concerning the terms 
and conditions. Durham’s health check programme has been recognised in a 
national bulletin by the NHS health check national lead, who visited Claypath 
Medical Practice and the ‘Check4Life’ bus in the city centre.   The national 
lead highlighted as good practice the IT system in the community outreach 
programme, which collects and transfers data from the NHS health check 
back to GPs.

c. The number of people in alcohol treatment with the Community Alcohol 
Service between July 2013 and June 2014 was 1,270, of which 464 
successfully completed. This equates to a 36.5% successful completion rate. 
This is slightly below 37.5% for the same period last year and the target of 
36.6% and is below national performance of 39.8%.  The Community Alcohol 
Service continues to monitor successful completion rates and the impact of 
service demand on this indicator. There has been a change to the National 
Drug Treatment service (NDTMS) counting rules for 2014-15 which now 
require that anyone in alcohol treatment who also is also in drug treatment to 
be counted as in drug treatment only (they were previously counted in both).  
This has reduced the numbers in alcohol treatment by 286, even though they 
are still receiving treatment (see Appendix 4, chart 5). 

d. The number of people in drug treatment with the Community Drugs Service 
(CDS) for opiate use between March 2013 and February 2014 was 1,446, of 
which 93 successfully completed, i.e. they did not re-present to the CDS 
between March and August 2014. This equates to a 6.4% successful 
completion rate, which is below the target of 7.9% and national performance 
of 7.6% (see Appendix 4, chart 6). The number of people in treatment for non-

Page 37



opiate use was 475, of which 190 successfully completed (40%). This is in line 
with the annual target of 40.4%, and the national outturn of 40.6% (see 
Appendix 4, chart 7). Actions being taken to improve performance include:

 The Drug and Alcohol Service is currently being reviewed and the new 
integrated model, which will have a greater focus on recovery, will be in 
place from April 2015.

 A new process for ensuring the appropriate recording of re-presentations, 
so that any individual returning to treatment services within the first 6 
months of discharge will be recorded as receiving recovery support and 
not as a re-presentation unless assessed as requiring structured 
interventions. 

e. There are no Council Plan actions which have not achieved target in this 
theme. 

55.There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.

Page 38



Altogether Safer: Overview

Council Performance
56.Key achievements this quarter include:

a. The percentage of people that agree that the local council and police deal with 
concerns of anti-social behavior (ASB) and crime was 62.1% in the period July 
2013 to June 2014.  Performance has increased from 56.7% in the equivalent 
period of 2012/13 and this is the highest proportion of people agreeing with 
this statement when compared to Durham Constabulary’s statistical 
neighbours (61%). This indicator is reported using the crime survey, which is 
at force level and therefore includes Darlington.

b. Between April and September 2014, 93.6% (426 of 455) of adult social care 
users who responded to the local survey programme reported that the care 
and support services they received helped them to feel safe and secure. This 
exceeds the target of 85% and is a slight increase when compared to the 
corresponding period last year (91.1%).

c. As also reported under the Altogether Better for Children and Young People 
theme, provisional data for April to September 2014 indicate that there were 
111 first time entrants (FTEs) to the youth justice system (249 per 100,000 
population).  This is well within the locally agreed quarterly target of 155 FTEs 
(340 per 100,000) and is an improvement from 118 FTEs during the same 
period of the previous year. 

d. Tracker indicators show:

i. In the period April to September 2014 there were 13,154 incidents of 
anti-social behaviour (ASB) reported to the police, which is a 3% 
decrease on the equivalent period of 2013, when 13,560 incidents were 
reported. 

ii. There were 1,789 incidents of alcohol related ASB between April and 
September 2014.  This equates to 13.6% of total ASB reported to 
Durham Constabulary, a decrease of 2.1 percentage points on the 
equivalent period of 2013. In the same period there were 2,702 violent 
crimes reported to the police, of which 30.4% (821) were recorded as 

Page 39



alcohol related.  This is a 3.4 percentage point decrease on the same 
period of 2013.

iii. In the period April to September 2014 theft offences reduced by 2% 
from 5,781 offences last year to 5,664 this period (11 per 1,000 
population). There have been reductions in the majority of theft 
categories, although shoplifting has increased by 31% from 983 to 
1,289. Durham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) area has the 
lowest rate of theft offences per 1,000 population for the period April to 
August 2014 (9.2) when compared to its statistical neighbours (13.2).  

iv. Data relating to the rolling year October 2011 to September 2012 
indicate that 27.4% of offenders in Durham reoffended. This was an 
improvement from 29.7% during the corresponding period of the 
previous year however is worse than the national rate of 26.1%.

v. As of August 2014, there were 681 families identified under the 
crime/ASB criteria of the Stronger Families Programme. Of these, 295 
(43.3%) met the results criteria, which is an increase of 58 families 
compared to the previous quarter. This represents a 2.9 percentage 
point increase from 40.4% at March 2014.

e. Good progress has been made with the Council Plan action to develop an 
approach and methodology for community resilience plans in communities 
where demand exists. This was due to be achieved by October 2014 but has 
been achieved well ahead of target in June 2014. 

57.The key performance improvement issues for this theme are:
a. As reported under the Altogether Healthier theme, the number of people in 

alcohol treatment with the Community Alcohol Service between July 2013 and 
June 2014 was 1,270, of which 464 successfully completed. This equates to a 
36.5% successful completion rate. This is a slightly below 37.5% for the same 
period last year and the target of 36.6% and is below national performance of 
39.8%.  The Community Alcohol Service continues to monitor successful 
completion rates and the impact of service demand on this indicator (see 
Appendix 4, chart 5).

b. Also reported under the Altogether Healthier theme, the number of people in 
drug treatment with the Community Drugs Service (CDS) for opiate use 
between March 2013 and February 2014 was 1,446, of which 93 successfully 
completed, i.e. they did not re-present to the CDS between March and August 
2014. This equates to a 6.4% successful completion rate, which is below the 
target of 7.9% and national performance of 7.6% (see Appendix 4, chart 6). 
The number of people in treatment for non-opiate use was 475, of which 190 
successfully completed (40%). This is in line with the annual target of 40.4%, 
and the national outturn of 40.6% (see Appendix 4, chart 7). Actions being 
taken to improve performance include:

 The Drug and Alcohol Service is currently being reviewed and the new 
integrated model, which will have a greater focus on recovery, will be in 
place from April 2015.

Page 40



 A new process for ensuring the appropriate recording of re-presentations, 
so that any individual returning to treatment services within the first 6 
months of discharge will be recorded as receiving recovery support and 
not as a re-presentation unless assessed as requiring structured 
interventions. 

c. Tracker indicators show: 

i. In the period April to September 2014 there were 12,837 crimes, a rate 
of 24.9 per 1,000 population. This has increased from 12,106 crimes 
(23.7 per 1,000) in the equivalent period of 2013 and equates to a 6% 
rise in overall crime.  Despite this increase in crime the County Durham 
CSP area continues to see one of the lowest levels of crime per 1,000 
population for the period April to August 2014 (20.9) when compared to 
its statistical neighbours average (27.3). 

Based on current figures, Durham Constabulary is forecasting a 1.7% 
increase in total crime by the end of 2014/15. Violence against the 
person is the crime category which has had the most impact on the rise 
in total crime, increasing by 42.5% in comparison to the 2013 
equivalent period.  

A 3.6% rise in the crime rate is observed when the Medomsley beat 
area is excluded from the crime figures (from 12,036 offences last year 
to 12,471 offences this period). This includes all crimes in relation to 
Medomsley, not just those as a result of the inquiry into historic 
offences of physical and sexual abuse Medomsley Detention Centre. 

ii. Between April and September 2014 there were 11,436 victim based 
crimes, which is a 6.3% increase (680 more victims of crime) when 
comparing to the 2013/14 equivalent period (10,756 victims). As with 
overall crime, Durham CSP area has the lowest rate of victim based 
crimes per 1,000 population for the period April to August 2014 (19.6) 
when compared to its statistical neighbours average (24.5). Based on 
current figures, Durham Constabulary is forecasting a 1.6% increase by 
the end of 2014/15. Increases in the number of victim based crimes can 
be attributed to rises in the following crime categories: sexual offences, 
violent offences and shoplifting, all of which have an associated victim.

iii. There were 456 serious or major crimes in the period April to 
September 2014, an increase of 23.6% when compared to the 
equivalent period of 2013. As noted above a large proportion of the 
increase can be attributed to historic reports of abuse at Medomsley 
Detention Centre.  

iv. This quarter 61 people were killed or seriously injured in road traffic 
accidents, an increase of 19 from last quarter. Of these three were 
fatalities. This brings the total number of people killed or seriously 
injured for January to June 2014 to 103, an increase from the 
corresponding period last year (91). The number of children killed or 
seriously injured in road traffic accidents between January and June 
2014 is the same as for the corresponding period last year at 13. A 
single collision between two school buses in June resulted in nine 

Page 41



serious injuries (and 78 slight injuries), without which figures would 
have been considerably lower. 

d. There are no Council Plan actions which have not achieved target in this 
theme.

58.There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.

Page 42



Altogether Greener: Overview

Council Performance
59.Key achievements this quarter include:

a. During the 12 months ending August 2014, 95.8% of municipal waste was 
diverted from landfill.  This exceeds the target set of 85%.

b. Street and environmental cleanliness improved this period. The results of the 
first survey relate to the period April to July 2014 and indicate that of relevant 
land and highways assessed as having deposits of litter, 5.8% fell below an 
acceptable level. Performance was better than the target of 7% and improved 
from 6.8% reported at quarter 2 2013/14. Of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of detritus, 12.1% fell below an acceptable 
level. Performance was worse than the target of 10% but improved slightly 
from 12.2% reported at quarter 2 2013/14. Of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog fouling, 0.3% fell below an acceptable 
level. Performance improved from 1.2% recorded at quarter 2 2013/14.

c. Between July and September 2014, there were 353 renewable energy feed in 
tariff installations registered and approved, including 352 solar photovoltaic 
(PV) installations and 1 wind installation equating to installed capacity of 
1.254 megawatts (MW). The period target of 250 installations was exceeded. 
In relation to renewable energy generation, the installed or installed / 
approved capacity within County Durham was 213.46MW at September 
2014; 186.15MW operational capacity and 27.308MW approved through 
planning.

60.The key performance improvement issues for this theme are
a. During the 12 months ending August 2014, 42% of household waste was re-

used, recycled or composted. Performance is below the 45% target and has 
deteriorated from 44.1% reported 12 months earlier. The 2.1 percentage 
point decrease can be partially attributed to contamination of recycling bins, 
which remains an issue. The new waste contracts, introduced in June 2013, 
have prioritised the diversion of waste from landfill and this has impacted on 
the recycling rate.  This decrease has been partly balanced by Durham 

Page 43



County Council’s countywide education campaign about contamination called 
‘Bin it Right’ , which continues with recycling assistants knocking on doors to 
inform residents of what they should and should not include in their recycling 
bins. This will take time to influence performance as one contaminated bin 
contaminates an entire load. 

b. Tracker indicators show there were 9,922 fly-tipping incidents reported in the 
12 month period to September 2014. This is an increase of 37% compared to 
12 months earlier, when 7,242 incidents were reported (see Appendix 4, 
chart 8). An increase in fly-tipping incidents is also observed nationally. Work 
continues on a review of the fly-tipping process looking at the arrangements 
for collection, recording and reporting, assessing how the data is used 
internally/externally and ensuring that reported data is robust, reported 
consistently and used effectively.  Work also continues in the Fly-tipping Task 
Force Group with targeted action and a county wide campaign to get 
everyone engaged in reducing fly-tipping. The work of both groups has now 
been merged and actions in relation to education, campaigns and community 
involvement include:

 A high profile county-wide campaign (October to December) with two 
strands, will inform

o householders of their ‘duty of care’
o potential offenders of the penalties if caught fly-tipping

 Multi-agency educational programme in schools
 Roadshows outside builders’ merchants to raise awareness of issue
 Work closely with private land owners and housing providers
 Share intelligence and jointly procure surveillance equipment with Area 

Action Partnerships and town and parish councils.

Tougher enforcement actions include:

 Creating a specialist fly-tipping team (six neighbourhood wardens)
 Identify and target repeat offenders, rogue traders and commercial fly-

tippers through multi-agency spot check operations
 Increase business compliance with trade waste disposal in hot-spot areas
 Improve the process for recovering costs from clearing fly-tipped waste

Further updates on both the review and the work of the task force will be 
provided at quarter 3. 

61.There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.

Page 44



Altogether Better Council: Overview

Council Performance
62.Key achievements this quarter include:

a. Quarter 2 has seen the Revenues and Benefits Service maintain the 
improved performance seen last year. Whether new claims or changes of 
circumstances, housing benefit (HB) or council tax reduction (CTR) claims, 
the processing time for each is better than the respective profiled target for 
quarter 2. 

 New HB claims were processed in 20.28 days on average, within the 
23 day target and comparable to the same period last year. The volume 
of new HB claims processed increased from 3,160 in quarter 1 to 3,429 
this period (Appendix 4, chart 9).

 New CTR claims were processed in 20.31 days on average, within the 
23 day target and 1.8 days quicker than the same period last year.  
During quarter 2, 3,798 new CTR claims were processed compared to 
3,531 in quarter 1 (Appendix 4, chart 10). 

 Changes to HB claims were processed in 9.24 days on average, within 
the 11 day target and 2.5 days more quickly than the same period last 
year. The volume of change of circumstances for HB claims processed 
increased from 26,679 in quarter 1 to 27,308 this period. (Appendix 4, 
chart 11).

 Changes to CTR claims were processed in 9.43 days on average, 
within the 11 day target and 3.25 days more quickly than the same 
period last year. During quarter 2, 28,732 change of circumstances for 
CTR claims were processed compared to 27,570 in quarter 1 
(Appendix 4, chart 12). 

b. Between July and September 2014, 230,937 telephone calls were answered, 
which is 95% of all calls received, compared to 88% at the same period last 

Page 45



year. 93% were answered within three minutes against the target of 80%. 
This was an improvement on the same period last year, when 78% were 
answered within three minutes. The volume of telephone calls shows an 
increase in calls received this quarter (244,074) when compared with the 
previous quarter (236,372) but a decrease when compared to the same 
period last year (258,047) (see Appendix 4, chart 13). During this quarter 
calls from four new telephony lines were added to this indicator; Durham, 
Bishop Auckland and Seaham registrars from August and garden waste from 
September. There was a 4% decrease in contact received via emails and 
web forms (17,191) compared to the same quarter last year (17,883). 

c. During quarter 2, the percentage of customers seen at a customer access 
point (CAP) within the 15 minutes target was 97%, better than the same 
period last year (93%). The figures show a decrease in customers from 
62,388 in quarter 1 to 57,763 in quarter 2 as well as a decrease when 
comparing to the same period last year (71,342) (see Appendix 4, chart 14).

d. This quarter saw a high degree of activity in relation to business lettings 
within council owned factories and business support centres with 20 new 
lettings, bringing the occupancy levels to 77.4%. Performance is above the 
target of 76% and the same period last year (75%). In particular there were 
six units at NETPark taken by Centre for Process Innovation.  

e. Progress has been made with the following Council Plan and service plan 
actions:

i. Good progress has been made with the action to support, develop and 
embed a partnership approach to investment planning. A County 
Durham Economic Partnership Social Inclusion Conference was held 
with partners on 26th September 2014. Over 130 delegates attended, 
with guest speakers and area specific workshops held to consider the 
priorities and use of European Social Fund resources in the next round 
of European Union (EU) funding 2014-2020. Following the conference, 
further project ideas and proposals will be considered and developed to 
progress the planned Durham EU Programme.

ii. The council’s new and improved website has now been launched. The 
new design will make it easier for customers to find what they are 
looking for. It is also designed for use with mobiles and tablets.

iii. The Durham at War interactive mapping website was launched on 10 
September 2014. It tells the story of County Durham and its people in 
the First World War, exactly one hundred years after the first Durham 
Light Infantry soldiers arrived in France with the British Expeditionary 
Force. The website will be live until the end of 2018 and will help to 
commemorate the role of Durham people at a momentous period in the 
county’s history. 

63.The key performance improvement issues for this theme are:

a. Improving the management of attendance and reducing sickness absence 
continues to be a priority for the council. A broader suite of sickness-related 
measures was introduced in quarter 2 to track progress.

Page 46



i. The percentage time lost to sickness absence (excluding schools) has 
increased from 4.8% in quarter 2 2013/14 to 4.85% in quarter 2 
2014/15. There has been a shift to less long and more short and 
medium term absence from the corresponding period last year, 
however, there is little change from last quarter. During the rolling year, 
47% of posts (excluding school based employees) had no sickness 
absence.

ii. The average days lost to sickness absence per full time equivalent 
(FTE) employee (including school based employees) for the rolling year 
has increased from 8.96 days at quarter 1 to 9.18 days at the end of 
quarter 2 2014/15, a deterioration of 2.5%. The average number of 
days lost to sickness absence per FTE (when excluding schools based 
employees) for the rolling year has also increased from 11.93 days at 
quarter 1 to 12.27 days at the end of quarter 2, a deterioration of 2.9%. 
The improvement targets we set ourselves for 2014/15 of 11.8 days per 
FTE (excluding school based employees) and 8.7 days per FTE 
(including school based employees) have not been achieved. 

iii. Recent and forthcoming developments to manage reporting and 
support for managers across the organisation include:

 Compulsory sickness absence training for managers (tiers 4 and 5)

 The rollout of ResourceLink’s leave management module, initially to 
Assistant Chief Executives and Resources, with other service 
groupings to follow

 Streamlining the Sickness Absence Policy, which will include a 
‘rehabilitation’ section with guidance for managers to ensure 
consistent practice and recording

 Development of an e-learning package for managers by December 
2014.

 Detailed sickness data tracking with individual services, including 
follow up management actions in relation to short, medium and long 
term sickness. 

b. The percentage of employee performance appraisals completed over the 
12 months to September 2014 was 66%. This is an increase of 2% 
compared to quarter 1 (64%). Although the recent trend of deterioration 
over consecutive quarters appears to have halted at the end of quarter 2, 
the current rate is 19 percentage points worse than the target of 85%, and 
nine percentage points worse than the equivalent quarter in 2013/14 
(75%). All heads of service are now provided with a monthly summary 
identifying all employees in their service who have not had an appraisal 
event recorded in the last rolling year, to facilitate active management of 
appraisal performance at a senior level. Human resources will continue to 
support and encourage managers in relation to appraisal activity, 
developments and training, in order to deliver improvements in this key 
area

c. The percentage of undisputed invoices paid within 30 days to our suppliers 
during quarter 2 was 90% which is a 2.5 percentage point deterioration 
against the previous quarter and two percentage points below the target of 
92%. Although the target was achieved last quarter, this could not be 

Page 47



sustained during quarter 2, mainly due to the unavailability of management 
reports during the upgrade of Oracle. Efforts to resume on target 
performance are ongoing during quarter 3. 

d. The percentage of Freedom of Information and Environmental Information 
Regulations requests responded to within 20 days was 78% this quarter, 
one percentage point deterioration from the previous quarter (79%) and 
remaining below the national target of 85%. An increased volume of 
requests compared to quarter 1 (11% increase) may have contributed to 
this decrease. The volume of requests has increased by 26% to 313 from 
249 at the same period last year and is also higher than at quarter 1 (281) 
(see Appendix 4, chart 15).

64.A key Council Plan action which has not achieved target relates to the delivery 
and completion of the current accommodation programme for council buildings.  
This was due to be achieved by November 2015 but further delays have been 
experienced in relation to Newton Aycliffe CAP, the opening of which has now 
been put back until January 2016. In addition, the opening of Stanley Louisa 
Centre CAP has also been delayed until February 2016. The scheme is currently 
in the design phase. The CAP at Old Bank Chambers, Bishop Auckland is still 
awaiting listed building consent before construction can start. Hopper House, 
Durham has now been closed and is currently in the process of being 
decommissioned.

65.The key risks to successfully delivering the objectives of this theme are:
a. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term 

Financial Plan (MTFP) savings projects, this will require further savings to be 
made from other areas, which may result in further service reductions and job 
losses. Management consider it possible that this risk could occur, which will 
result in a funding shortfall, damaged reputation and reduced levels of service 
delivery. To mitigate the risk, a programme management approach for key 
projects has been established and embedded across the council. Monitoring 
by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet provides assurance over the 
implementation of the agreed MTFP savings projects. It should be recognised 
that this will be a significant risk for at least the next four years.
  

b. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2017/18 will 
continue to have an increasing major impact on all council services. 
Management consider it highly probable that this risk could occur, and to 
mitigate the risk, sound financial forecasting is in place based on thorough 
examination of the Government's "red book" plans. This will also be a 
significant risk for at least the next four years.

c. Potential restitution of search fee income going back to 2005.  Management 
consider it highly probable that the risk will occur as a firm of solicitors has 
taken action against all councils across England and Wales to recover the 
alleged land charge fees overpayment.  The mitigation of this risk is 
dependent upon the outcome of the negotiations and litigation currently being 
defended by lawyers instructed in group litigation. A framework for settlement 
has been produced and this is currently being considered.

Page 48



d. The council could suffer significant adverse service delivery and financial 
impact if there are delays in the procurement and implementation of the new 
banking contract. Pre-procurement meetings will be held with alternative 
providers to establish what services can and cannot be provided. Awareness-
raising will take place at tier four manager level, that banking arrangements 
are due to change. The new contract is expected to be in place by March 
2015 to ensure a smooth transition.

e. If we were to fail to comply with Central Government's Public Services 
Network (PSN) Code of Connection criteria, this would put some of our core 
business processes, such as Revenues and Benefits, at risk. An ongoing 
project is in place to ensure compliance. A backup ICT site is now in place.  
The equipment has been installed, data has been transferred, and a full test is 
planned once remedial electrical work is carried out at the council's primary 
data site.

Page 49



Conclusions
66.Figures confirm the UK economy grew again this quarter, surpassing its pre-

recession peak from 2008, although County Durham continues to be affected by 
high unemployment, and low levels of potential job creation. Despite lower than 
average employment levels and increases in reported crime, there continues to 
be good progress made in many areas. These areas include reduced Job 
Seeker’s Allowance claimants, increased occupancy of business lettings and 
council owned housing, continuing high levels of educational attainment and adult 
care provision, improved street and environmental cleanliness and benefits 
processing.

67.The council has again seen increases in demand for key frontline services 
concerning the number of people rehoused and the number of fly tipping incidents 
reported.  Requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act or 
Environmental Information Regulations continue to increase.

Recommendations and Reasons
68.Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is recommended to:

a. Note the performance of the council at quarter 2 and the actions to remedy 
under performance.

b. Note all changes to the Council Plan outlined below:

 Altogether Wealthier 
i. Agree the development plan of Elvet waterside due October 2014. 

Revised date: August 2015

ii. Agree a delivery plan for Milburngate House due June 2015. Revised 
date: September 2015.

iii. Relocate the bus station on North Road due December 2015. Revised 
date March 2016.

iv. Construction of a new railway station at Horden on the Durham coast 
railway line due March 2016. Revised date: August 2017.

v. Work with partners to develop a Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
Strategy to improve the standards and quality of HMO accommodation 
within the private rented sector due July 2014. Revised date: 
September 2015. 

vi. Bring empty homes back into use through a programme of targeted 
support due March 2015. Revised date: September 2015. 

vii. Develop and implement a real time travel information system across 
the county due September 2014. Revised date: December 2014.

   Altogether Better Council  
viii. Deliver and complete the current accommodation programme for 

council buildings due November 2015. Revised date: February 2016

Page 50



   Deleted Actions
Altogether Wealthier
ix. Complete road access improvements at Front Street, Stanley due 

December 2014.

c. Note changes to performance indicators outlined below:

Altogether Healthier - Four week smoking quitters per 100,000 – revision of 
annual target from 1,126 to 1,133 per 100,000, due to changes to the 
population figures, although the actual number of quitters remains the same 
at 4,813.

Contact: Jenny Haworth, Head of Planning and Performance    
        Tel: 03000 268071     E-Mail jenny.haworth@durham.gov.uk

Page 51

mailto:jenny.haworth@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance - Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service 
and financial planning.

Staffing - Performance against a number of relevant corporate health PIs has been 
included to monitor staffing issues.

Risk - Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 
integrated into the quarterly monitoring report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - Corporate health PIs are 
monitored as part of the performance monitoring process. 

Accommodation - Not applicable

Crime and Disorder - A number of PIs and key actions relating to crime and 
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Human Rights - Not applicable

Consultation - Not applicable

Procurement - Not applicable

Disability Issues - Employees with a disability are monitored as part of the 
performance monitoring process. 

Legal Implications - Not applicable

Page 52



Appendix 2: Key to symbols used within the report 

Where icons appear in this report, they have been applied to the most recently available 
information. 

Performance Indicators:

Direction of travel Performance against target 

Actions:

Benchmarking:

Latest reported data have improved 
from comparable period GREEN Performance better than target

Latest reported data remain in line 
with comparable period AMBER Getting there - performance 

approaching target (within 2%)

Latest reported data have 
deteriorated from  comparable period RED Performance >2% behind target

WHITE Complete (Action achieved by deadline/achieved ahead of deadline)   

GREEN Action on track to be achieved by the deadline

RED Action not achieved by the deadline/unlikely to be achieved by the 
deadline

GREEN Performance better than other authorities based on latest 
benchmarking information available 

AMBER Performance in line with other authorities based on latest 
benchmarking information available

RED Performance worse than other authorities based on latest 
benchmarking information available

Page 53



Appendix 3: Summary of Key Performance Indicators 

Table 1: Key Target Indicators 

Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

Altogether Wealthier          
No Data No Data

1 REDPI75a
Overall proportion of 
planning applications 
determined within deadline

85.1 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 85.0 GREEN 88.6 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
2 REDPI10a Number of affordable 

homes delivered 120 Jul - Sep 
2014 80 GREEN 78 GREEN

N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
3 REDPI29

Number of private sector 
properties improved as a 
direct consequence of local 
authority intervention

To follow Apr - Jun 
2014 131 NA 203 NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
4 REDPI30

Number of empty properties 
brought back into use as a 
result of local authority 
intervention

61 Apr - Sep 
2014 43 GREEN 52 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
5 REDPI95

Proportion of council owned 
properties currently meeting 
decency criteria

89.36 Jul - Sep 
2014 91.15 AMBER 79.05 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

6 REDPI82 Proportion of council owned 
housing that is empty 1.45 Jul - Sep 

2014 1.50 GREEN 1.91 GREEN
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
7 REDPI82a

The proportion of council 
owned housing that is not 
available to let and has 
been empty for more than 
six months

0.16 Jul - Sep 
2014 0.05 RED 0.19 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data8 REDPI62
Apprenticeships started 
through Durham County 
Council funded schemes

90 Apr - Sep 
2014 90 GREEN 71 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

P
age 54



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

83.5 N/A
9 CASAW2 Overall success rate of 

adult skills funded provision 88.2
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

86.0 GREEN 85.9 GREEN
GREEN N/A

2012/13 
ac yr

No Data No Data
10 REDPI64

Number of passenger 
journeys made on the Link2 
service

8,574 Jul - Sep 
2014 7,500 GREEN 8,425 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
11 REDPI81

Percentage of timetabled 
bus services that are on 
time

91.0 Jul - Sep 
2014 85.0 GREEN 85.0 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

70.0 78**
12 REDPI41c

Percentage of major 
planning applications 
determined within 13 weeks

75.9 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 71.0 GREEN 76.7 RED

GREEN RED

Apr 2013 
- Mar 
2014

No Data No Data
13 REDPI93 Number of business 

enquiries handled 403 Jul - Sep 
2014 300 GREEN 270 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

14 REDPI94 Number of inward 
investment successes

New 
indicator

Reported 
in quarter 

4
10 NA New 

indicator NA N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

15 REDPI66 Number of businesses 
engaged 263 Jul - Sep 

2014 150 GREEN 104 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

16 REDPI92
Number of gross  potential 
jobs created and/or 
safeguarded

860 Apr - Sep 
2014 1,200 RED New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
Altogether Better for Children and Young People         

60 56**
17 CASCYP 

15

Percentage of children in 
the early years foundation 
stage achieving a good 
level of development

57
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

48 GREEN 42 GREEN
RED GREEN

2013/14 
ac yr

18 CASCYP6
Achievement gap between 
Durham pupils eligible for 
pupil premium and Durham 

15.8
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

20.5 GREEN 21.0 GREEN 18.0 No Data 2012/13 
ac year

P
age 55



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

pupils not eligible for pupil 
premium funding achieving 
level 4 in reading, writing 
and maths at key stage 2 
(percentage points)

GREEN N/A

55.9 54*
19 CASCYP4

Percentage of pupils 
achieving 5 or more A*-C 
grades at GCSE or 
equivalent including English 
and maths

57.1
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

NA NA [1] Definition 
change NA [1]

GREEN GREEN

2013/14 ac 
yr 

(provisional)

No Data No Data

20 CASCYP7

Achievement gap between 
Durham pupils eligible for 
pupil premium and Durham 
pupils not eligible for pupil 
premium funding achieving 
5 A*-C GCSE's including 
English and maths at key 
stage 4 (percentage points)

28.8
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

29.5 GREEN 30.0 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

97.9 98.2*

21 CASCYP5

Percentage of pupils on 
level 3 programmes in 
community secondary 
schools achieving two A 
levels at grade A*-E or 
equivalent

98.7
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

98.5 GREEN 98.9 AMBER
GREEN GREEN

2012/13 
ac yr

No Data No Data

22 CASCYP2

Percentage of looked after 
children achieving five A*-C 
GCSEs (or equivalent) at 
key stage 4 (including 
English and maths) 

11.6
2013/14 ac 

yr 
(provisional)

NA NA [1] Definition 
change NA [1]

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

23 CASAS5
First time entrants to the 
youth justice system aged 
10 - 17 (per 100,000 
population of 10-17 year 
olds)

249 Apr - Sep 
2014 340 GREEN 259 GREEN 514 No Data 2012/13

P
age 56



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

(Also in Altogether Safer)
Not 

comparabl
e

Not 
comparabl

e

11.5 19.7*

24 CASCYP8 Percentage of mothers 
smoking at time of delivery 17.9 Apr - Jun 

2014 20.5 GREEN 21.6 GREEN
RED GREEN

England 
- Apr-Jun 

2014 
North 
East 

2012/13
96.2 96.6*

25 CASCYP 
12

Percentage of child 
protection cases which 
were reviewed within 
required timescales

95.7 Apr - Sep 
2014 100.0 RED 95.5 GREEN RED RED 2012/13

24.9 22.5*
26 CASCYP9

Percentage of children in 
need referrals occurring 
within 12 months of 
previous referral

26.3 Apr - Sep 
2014 28.0 GREEN 30.6 GREEN

RED RED
2012/13

No Data No Data
27 CASCYP 

13

Parent/carer satisfaction 
with the help they received 
from Children's Services

66.7 Apr - Dec 
2013 72.0 AMBER 67.9 AMBER

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

44.8 49.8*
28 CASCYP 

14

Percentage of successful 
interventions via the 
Stronger Families 
Programme

63.3 Apr 2012 - 
Aug 2014 60.0 GREEN 19.5

Not 
comparable 

[2] GREEN GREEN
May 
2014

90.5 93.7**

29 CASCYP 
11

Percentage of looked after 
children cases which were 
reviewed within required 
timescales

98.8 Apr - Sep 
2014 97.8 GREEN 97.8 GREEN

GREEN GREEN
2009/10

Altogether Healthier          
30 CASAH1 Four week smoking quitters 

per 100,000
191 Apr - Jun 

2014
293 RED 257 RED 688 932* 2013/14

P
age 57



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

Not 
comparable

Not 
comparable

19.5 22.1*
31 CASAH22

Estimated smoking 
prevalence of persons aged 
18 and over

22.2 2012 Not set NA 20.9 RED RED RED 2012

76.3 77.9*

32 CASAH10

Percentage of women 
eligible for breast screening 
who were screened 
adequately within a 
specified period

78.6 2013 70.0 GREEN 79.3 AMBER
GREEN GREEN

2013

2.2 2.1*
33 CASAH2

Percentage of eligible 
people who receive an NHS 
health check

1.5 Apr - Jun 
2014 2.0 RED 2.4 RED

RED RED
Apr - Jun 

2014

No Data No Data

34 CASAH3

Percentage of people 
eligible for bowel cancer 
screening who were 
screened adequately within 
a specified period (new 
definition under 
development)

Indicator 
under 

development
NA NA NA NA NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
35 CASAH4

Percentage of women 
eligible for cervical 
screening who were 
screened adequately within 
a specified period

77.7 2013 80.0 RED 78.8 RED
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

39.8 No Data
36 CASAS23

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in 
alcohol treatment  (Also in 
Altogether Safer)

36.5 Jul 2013 - 
Jun 2014 36.6 AMBER 37.5 RED

RED N/A

Jul 2013 
- Jun 
2014

7.6 No Data
37 CASAS7

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in drug 
treatment - opiates (Also in 
Altogether Safer) 

6.4
Mar 2013 

- Feb 
2014

7.9 RED 7.4 RED
RED N/A

Mar 
2013 - 

Feb 
2014

P
age 58



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

40.6 No Data
38 CASAS8

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in drug 
treatment - non-opiates 
(Also in Altogether Safer)

40.0
Mar 2013 

- Feb 
2014

40.4 AMBER 35.3 GREEN
AMBER N/A

Mar 
2013 - 

Feb 
2014

668.4 745.9**

39 CASAH11

Adults aged 65+ per 
100,000 population 
admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to 
residential or nursing care

358.4 Apr - Sep 
2014 387.9 GREEN 340.6 RED Not 

comparable
Not 

comparable
2013/14

62.1 54.7**

40 CASAH12

Proportion of people using 
social care who receive 
self-directed support and 
those receiving direct 
payments

59.1 As at Sep 
2014 56.5 GREEN 59.5 AMBER

RED GREEN
2013/14 

(provisional)

90.0 N/A

41 CASAH13

Percentage of service users 
reporting that the help and 
support they receive has 
made their quality of life 
better

93.0 Apr - Sep 
2014 93.0 GREEN 94.3 AMBER

GREEN N/A
2013/14 

(provisional)

81.9 85.3**

42 CASAH14

Proportion of older people 
who were still at home 91 
days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ 
rehabilitation services

89.8 Jan - Jun 
2014 85.4 GREEN 88.5 GREEN

GREEN GREEN
2013/14 

(provisional)

No Data 60.2*
43 CASAH15

Percentage of people who 
have no ongoing care 
needs following completion 
of provision of a reablement 
package

64.6 Apr - Sep 
2014 55.0 GREEN 62 GREEN

N/A GREEN

Jul - Sep 
2013

60.9 58.7**
44 CASAH16

Proportion of adults in 
contact with secondary 
mental health services living 
independently, with or 
without support

87.9 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 88.5 AMBER 88.9 AMBER

GREEN GREEN

2013/14 
(provisional)

P
age 59



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

Altogether Safer          

79.2 78.3*
45 CASAS3

Proportion of people who 
use adult social care 
services who say that those 
services have made them 
feel safe and secure

93.6 Apr - Sep 
2014 85.0 GREEN 91.1 GREEN

GREEN GREEN

2013/14 
(provisional)

2.34 2.88**
46 CASAS9 Building resilience to 

terrorism (self assessment) 4 2013/14 3 GREEN 3 GREEN
GREEN GREEN

2009/10

24.0 28*

47 CASAS1

Repeat incidents of 
domestic abuse (referrals to 
Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conferences 
(MARAC))

14.7 Apr - Sep 
2014 25.0 GREEN 7.8 RED

GREEN GREEN

Jan - 
Dec 
2013

No Data No Data
48 CASAS4

Percentage reduction in 
detected crimes for 
offenders in the Integrated 
Offender Management 
(IOM) cohort

65 Jan - Mar 
2014 40 GREEN 58 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

514 No Data

49 CASAS5

First time entrants to the 
Youth Justice System aged 
10 - 17 (per 100,000 
population of 10-17 year 
olds) 
(Also in Altogether better 
for Children & Young 
People)

249 Apr - Sep 
2014 340 GREEN 259 GREEN Not 

comparabl
e

Not 
comparabl

e

2012/13

39.8 No Data
50 CASAS23

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in 
alcohol treatment  (Also in 
Altogether Healthier)

36.5 Jul 2013 - 
Jun 2014 36.6 AMBER 37.5 RED

RED N/A

Jul 2013 
- Jun 
2014

51 CASAS7
Percentage of successful 
completions of those in drug 6.4

Mar 2013 
- Feb 7.9 RED 7.4 RED 7.6 No Data

Mar 
2013 - 

P
age 60



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

treatment - opiates (Also in 
Altogether Healthier) 2014 RED N/A Feb 

2014

40.6 No Data
52 CASAS8

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in drug 
treatment - non-opiates  
(Also in Altogether 
Healthier)

40.0
Mar 2013 

- Feb 
2014

40.4 AMBER 35.3 GREEN
AMBER N/A

Mar 
2013 - 

Feb 
2014

Altogether Greener          

15.00 No Data

53 NS14a

Percentage of relevant land 
and highways assessed 
(LEQSPRO survey) as 
having deposits of litter  that 
fall below an acceptable 
level 

5.8 Apr - Jul 
2014 7.00 GREEN 6.83 GREEN

GREEN N/A
2012/13

26.00 No Data

54 NS14b

Percentage of relevant land 
and highways assessed 
(LEQSPRO survey) as 
having deposits of detritus 
that fall below an 
acceptable level 

12.14 Apr - Jul 
2014 10.00 RED 12.19 GREEN

GREEN N/A
2012/13

No Data No Data
55 NS10 Percentage of municipal 

waste diverted from landfill 95.8
Sep 2013 

- Aug 
2014

85.0 GREEN 67.0 GREEN
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

41.6 35.89*
56 NS19

Percentage of household 
waste that is re-used, 
recycled or composted

42.0
Sep 2013 

- Aug 
2014

45.0 RED 44.1 RED
GREEN GREEN

2012/13

No Data No Data
57 REDPI53

Percentage of conservation 
areas in the county that 
have an up to date 
character appraisal

41.00 As at Sept 
2014 37.00 GREEN 39.00 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
58 REDPI48

Percentage change in CO₂ 
emissions from local 
authority operations [3]

-9 2013/14 -5 GREEN 5.5 GREEN
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

P
age 61



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

No Data No Data
59 NS08

Percentage reduction in 
CO₂ emissions from the 
DCC fleet

3.35 2012/13 Not set NA 2.01 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

60 NS36

Average annual electricity 
consumption per street light 
(kilo-watt hour (KwH)) 
(estimated)

388.6 2013/14 Not set NA New 
indicator NA N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data61 REDPI49
Number of registered and 
approved feed in tariff 
installations

715 Jul - Sep 
2014 250 GREEN 470 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

62 NS04

Percentage of recorded 
actionable defects on 
carriageways and footways 
repaired within 24 hours 
(category 1)

96 Jul - Sep 
2014 90 GREEN 92 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data

63 NS05

Percentage of recorded 
actionable defects on 
carriageways and footways 
repaired within 14 working 
days  (category 2.1)

77 Jul - Sep 
2014 90 RED New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

Altogether Better Council          
No Data No Data

64 NS22
Percentage of  calls 
answered within three  
minutes

93 Jul - Sep 
2014 80 GREEN 78 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
65 NS24

Percentage of customers 
seen within 15 minutes at a 
customer access point

97 Jul - Sep 
2014 95 GREEN 93 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

66 RES/038
Percentage all ICT service 
desk incidents resolved on 
time

94 Jul - Sep 
2014 90 GREEN 90 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
21.00 25**

67 RES/NI/
181a1

Average time taken to 
process new housing 
benefit claims (days)

20.28 Jul - Sep 
2014 23.00 GREEN 20.23 RED

GREEN GREEN

Jan - 
Mar 
2014

68 RES/NI/ Average time taken to 20.31 Jul - Sep 23.00 GREEN 22.11 GREEN No Data No Data No 

P
age 62



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

181a2 process new council tax 
reduction claims (days) 2014 N/A N/A Period 

Specified

4.00 6**
69 RES/NI/

181b1

Average time taken to 
process change of 
circumstances for housing 
benefit claims (days)

9.24 Jul - Sep 
2014 11.00 GREEN 11.74 GREEN

RED RED

Jan - 
Mar 
2014

No Data No Data
70 RES/NI/

181b2

Average time taken to 
process change of 
circumstances for council 
tax reduction claims (days)

9.43 Jul - Sep 
2014 11.00 GREEN 12.68 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
71 RES/001

Savings delivered against 
the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) (£m)

18.9 As at Sep 
2014 23.0

Not 
comparable 

[4]
15.7 NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
97.00 96.01*

72 RES/002 Percentage of council tax 
collected in-year 55.91 As at Sep 

2014 55.50 GREEN 55.18 GREEN Not 
comparable

Not 
comparable

2013/14

97.90 97.76*
73 RES/003 Percentage of business 

rates collected in-year 58.00 As at Sep 
2014 57.61 GREEN 60.71 RED Not 

comparable
Not 

comparable
2013/14

No Data No Data74 RES/129
Percentage of council tax 
recovered for all years 
excluding the current year

99.0 As at Sep 
2014 98.5 GREEN 99.0 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data75 RES/130
Percentage of business 
rates recovered for all years 
excluding the current year

99.15 As at Sep 
2014 98.50 GREEN 99.20 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

76 REDPI39
Current tenant arrears as a 
percentage of the annual 
rent debit

1.91 Jul - Sep 
2014 2.45 GREEN 2.86 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

77 REDPI78 Percentage of capital 
receipts received 25.0 Apr - Sep 

2014 50.0 RED 13.0 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
78 REDPI33 Percentage of council 

owned business floor space 
77.38 As at Sep 

2014
76.00 GREEN 75.00 GREEN No Data No Data No 

Period 

P
age 63



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

that is occupied N/A N/A Specified

No Data No Data
79 REDPI76

Income generated from 
council owned business 
space (£)

1,557,000 Apr - Sep 
2014 1,505,000 GREEN 1,270,980 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

80 REDPI49b
£ saved from solar 
installations on council 
owned buildings

214,000 2013/14 Not set NA New 
indicator NA N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data81 REDPI68
Average asset rating of 
Display Energy Certificates 
in county council buildings

99.40 As at Sep 
2014 98.00 AMBER 98.90 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

82 RES/LPI/
010

Percentage of undisputed 
invoices paid within 30 days 
to our suppliers

90.0 Jul - Sep 
2014 92.0 RED 91.3 RED N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

83 ACE006

Percentage of Freedom of 
Information (FOI) and 
Environmental Information 
Regulations (EIR) requests 
responded to within 
statutory deadlines

78 Jul - Sep 
2014 85 RED 85 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

No Data No Data
84 RES/LPI/

012

Days / shifts lost to sickness 
absence – all services 
including school staff

9.18 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 8.70 RED 9.31 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

85 RES/LPI/
012a

Days / shifts lost to sickness 
absence – all services 
excluding school staff

12.27 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 11.80 RED 12.15 RED N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified
No Data No Data

86 RES/011 Percentage of performance 
appraisals completed 65.6 Oct 2013 - 

Sep 2014 85.0 RED 75.3 RED
N/A N/A

No 
Period 

Specified

[1] Due to changes to the definition data is not comparable
[2] Data cumulative year on year so comparisons are not applicable
[3] Indicator description amended to accurately reflect how performance is measured

P
age 64



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Current 
performance 

to target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

[4] Annual target

P
age 65



Table 2: Key Tracker Indicators

Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

Altogether Wealthier          

87 REDPI3 Number of all new homes 
completed in Durham City 3 Jul - Sep 

2014 14 RED 11 RED

No Data No Data

88 REDPI24

All homes completed in and 
near all major settlements, 
as defined in the County 
Durham Plan, as a 
proportion of total 
completions

51.00 Jul - Sep 
2014 35.00 GREEN 69.09 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data

89 REDPI22

Percentage of households 
within County Durham that 
can access Durham City 
market place by 8.30am, 
using public transport with a 
total journey time of 1 hour, 
including walking time

76.75 As at Sep 
2014 74.00 GREEN 73.58 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
90 REDPI38

Number of passenger 
journeys recorded by the 
operator of the three 
Durham City Park and Ride 
sites

278,845 Jul - Sep 
2014 240,243 GREEN 325,457 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
91 REDPI80

Percentage annual change 
in the traffic flow through 
Durham City

5.4 Jul - Sep 
2014 4.9 GREEN New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No Data No Data92 NS01 Number of visitors to 
theatres 97,053 Jul - Sep 

2014 51,524 GREEN 101,685 RED N/A N/A
No Data No Data93 NS02 Number of visitors to 

museums 70,797 Jul - Sep 
2014 61,408 GREEN New 

indicator NA N/A N/A
No Data No Data94 NS03 Number of visitors to leisure 

centres 1,078,740 Jul - Sep 
2014 1,092,856 RED New 

indicator NA N/A N/A

P
age 66



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

No Data No Data
95 NS12

Percentage of food 
establishments rated as 3 
star or above (Food 
Hygiene Rating System)

94 As at Oct 
2014 93.5 GREEN New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed
86 No Data

96 REDPI
97a

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Barnard Castle

89 As at Mar 
2014 93 RED 93 RED

GREEN N/A
2013

86 No Data
97 REDPI

97b

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%)– 
Bishop Auckland

79 As at Mar 
2014 91 RED 91 RED

RED N/A
2013

86 No Data
98 REDPI

97c

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Chester-le-Street

84 As at Mar 
2014 89 RED 89 RED

RED N/A
2013

84 No Data
99 REDPI

97d

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%)– 
Consett

94 As at Mar 
2014 88 GREEN 88 GREEN

GREEN N/A
2013

86 No Data
100 REDPI

97e

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Crook

92 As at Mar 
2014 95 RED 95 RED

GREEN N/A
2013

86 No Data
101 REDPI

97f

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Durham City

89 As at Mar 
2014 90 RED 90 RED

GREEN N/A
2013

86 No Data
102 REDPI

97g

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres  (%) – 
Newton Aycliffe

71 As at Mar 
2014 80 RED 80 RED

RED N/A
2013

86 No Data
103 REDPI

97h

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Peterlee

85 As at Mar 
2014 87 RED 87 RED

RED N/A
2013

86 No Data
104 REDPI

97i

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) –
Seaham

91 As at Mar 
2014 87 GREEN 87 GREEN

GREEN N/A
2013

P
age 67



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

86 No Data
105 REDPI

97j

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Shildon

89 As at Mar 
2014 88 GREEN 88 GREEN

GREEN N/A
2013

86 No Data
106 REDPI

97k

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) – 
Spennymoor

85 As at Mar 
2014 88 RED 88 RED

RED N/A
2013

86 No Data
107 REDPI

97l

Occupancy rates for retail 
units in town centres (%) –
Stanley

86 As at Mar 
2014 91 RED 91 RED

AMBER N/A
2013

No Data No Data
108 REDPI

10b
Number of net homes 
completed 207 Jul - Sep 

2014 361 RED 165 GREEN N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data

109 REDPI34

Total number of those 
registered on the Durham 
Key Options system who 
have been rehoused 
(includes existing tenants 
and new tenants)

1,290 Jul - Sep 
2014 1,228 GREEN 1,224 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
110 REDPI

36d
Total number of housing 
solutions presentations 2,376 Jul - Sep 

2014 2,611 GREEN New 
indicator NA [1] N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
111 REDPI

36b

Number of statutory 
homeless applications as a 
proportion of the total 
number of housing solutions 
presentations

7.24 Jul - Sep 
2014 7.74 GREEN New 

indicator NA [1]
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
112 REDPI

36c

Number of  homeless 
acceptances (of a statutory 
duty) as a proportion of the  
total number of housing 
solutions presentations

2.15 Jul - Sep 
2014 2.37 GREEN New 

indicator NA [1]
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

P
age 68



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

No Data No Data
113 REDPI

36a

Number of preventions as a 
proportion of the total 
number of housing solutions 
presentations

13.55 Jul - Sep 
2014 14.98 RED New 

indicator NA [1]
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
114 REDPI96

The number of people in 
reasonable preference 
groups on the housing 
register

5,187 As at Sep 
2014 5,207 GREEN New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed
73.6 68.1*

115 REDPI40
Proportion of the working 
age population defined as in 
employment

66.7 Jul 2013 - 
Jun 2014 66.2 GREEN 67.1 RED

RED RED

Jul 
2013 - 

Jun 
2014

10.78 13.21*
116 REDPI73

Proportion of the working 
age population currently not 
in work who want a job

13.30 Jul 2013 - 
Jun 2014 13.66 GREEN 15.49 GREEN

RED RED

Jul 
2013 - 

Jun 
2014

26.20 33.1*

117 REDPI8b

Proportion of all 
Jobseeker's Allowance 
(JSA) claimants that have 
claimed for one year or 
more

33.20 As at Sep 
2014 35.85 GREEN 36.12 GREEN

RED RED

As at 
Sep 
2014

No Data No Data
118 REDPI7a 

Number of Jobseeker's 
Allowance (JSA) claimants 
aged 18-24

2,720 As at Sep 
2014 2,580 RED 4,255 GREEN

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
119 REDPI28

Number of apprenticeships 
started by young people 
resident in County Durham 
as recorded by the National 
Apprenticeship Service

1,372 2012/13 
ac yr 1,659 RED 1,659 RED

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

21,937 16091*
120 REDPI87

Gross Value Added (GVA) 
per capita in County 
Durham (£)

12,875 Jan - Dec 
2012 12,661 GREEN 12,661 GREEN

RED RED
2012

17,066 14393*
121 REDPI88 Per capita household 

disposable income (£) 14,151 2012 13,522 GREEN 13,522 GREEN
RED RED

2012

P
age 69



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

218.2 148.53*
122 ACE018

County Durham residents 
starting a first degree in an 
academic year (per 100,000 
population aged 18+) 

162.2 2012/13 
ac yr 161.4 GREEN 161.4 GREEN

RED GREEN
2012/13 

ac yr

No Data No Data
123 REDPI72 Number of local passenger 

journeys on the bus network 5,836,935 Apr - Jun 
2014 6,250,137 RED 5,891,958 RED N/A N/A No 

No Data No Data
124 REDPI89

Number of registered 
businesses in County 
Durham

14,785 2013/14 14,815 RED 14,815 RED
N/A N/A

No 

No Data No Data
125 REDPI

32a

Percentage of tourism 
businesses actively 
engaged with Visit County 
Durham

81 As at Mar 
2014

New 
indicator NA New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
126 REDPI90

Percentage change in the 
number of visitors to the 
core attractions in County 
Durham compared to the 
previous year

33.6 2013/14 New 
indicator NA New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data
127 REDPI91 Number of unique visitors to 

the thisisdurham website 272,960 Jul - Sep 
2014 240,478 GREEN 238,326 GREEN

N/A N/A
Altogether Better for Children and Young People        

5.3 6.6**
128 CASCYP

16

Percentage of 16 to 18 year 
olds who are not in 
education, employment or 
training (NEET) 

14.2 Jul - Sep 
2014 6.8

Not 
comparable 

[5]
14.9 GREEN Not 

comparable
Not 

comparable

Nov 
2013 - 

Jan 
2014

17.6 24*
129 ACE016

Percentage of children in 
poverty (quarterly proxy 
measure) (Also in 
Altogether Better Council)

23.3 As at May 
2014 23.6 AMBER 24.4 GREEN

RED GREEN

As at 
May 
2014

18.9 23.4*
130 ACE017

Percentage of children in 
poverty  (national annual 
measure) (Also in 
Altogether Better Council)

22.7 2012 23.0 GREEN 23.0 GREEN
RED GREEN

2012

P
age 70



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

35.4 No Data
131 CASCYP

29
Rate of proven re-offending 
by young offenders 37.1 Oct 2011 - 

Sep 2012 37.5 GREEN 43.0 GREEN
RED N/A

Oct 
2011 - 
Sep 
2012

22.2 22.8**
132 CASCYP

18

Percentage of children aged 
4-5  years classified as 
overweight or obese (Also 
in Altogether Healthier)

21.9 2012/13 
ac yr 23.6 GREEN 23.6 GREEN

GREEN GREEN
2012/13 

ac yr

33.3 34.7**
133 CASCYP

19

Percentage of children aged 
10-11 years classified as 
overweight or obese  (Also 
in Altogether Healthier)

35.9 2012/13 
ac yr 38.4 GREEN 38.4 GREEN

RED RED

2012/13 
ac yr

25.2 32.1*
134 CASCYP

20
Under 18 conception rate 
per 1,000 girls aged 15-17 38.9

Apr - Jun 
2013 

(provisional)
40.8 GREEN 34.4 RED RED RED

Apr - 
Jun 

2013
5.6 8.3**

135 CASCYP
21

Under 16 conception rate 
per 1,000 girls aged 13 - 15 8.9 Jan - Dec 

2012 7.7 RED 7.7 RED RED RED

Jan - 
Dec 
2012

14.0 13.5**
136 CASCYP

23

Emotional and behavioural 
health of looked after 
children

15.5 2013/14 16.1 GREEN 16.1 GREEN
RED RED

2012/13

352.3 532.2*

137 CASCYP
26

Young people aged 10-24 
years admitted to hospital 
as a result of self-harm (rate 
per 100,000 population 
aged 10-24 years)

504.8 2010/11 - 
2012/13 561.8 GREEN 561.8 GREEN

RED GREEN
2010/11 - 
2012/13

No Data No Data
138 CASCYP

27

Number of new referrals to 
Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS)

996 Apr - Aug 
2014 598 NA 1,209 NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed
37.9 42.2**

139 CASCYP
28

Rate of children with a child 
protection plan per 10,000 
population

38.4 As at Sep 
2014 44.5 GREEN 42.4 GREEN

RED GREEN

As at 
Mar 
2013

P
age 71



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

60.0 81*
140 CASCYP

24
Rate of looked after children 
per 10,000 population 61.0 As at Sep 

2014 60.2 RED 61.9 GREEN RED GREEN

As at 
Mar 
2014

47.2 31.2*
141 CASCYP

25
Prevalence of breastfeeding 
at 6-8 weeks from birth 28.9 Apr - Jun 

2014 26.2 GREEN 28.5 GREEN
RED RED

2012/13

Altogether Healthier          

22.2 22.8**

142 CASCYP
18

Percentage of children aged 
4-5 years  classified as 
overweight or obese (Also 
in Altogether Better for 
Children and Young 
People)

21.9 2012/13 
ac yr 23.6 GREEN 23.6 GREEN

GREEN GREEN

2012/1
3 ac yr

33.3 34.7**
143 CASCYP

19

Percentage of children aged 
10-11 years classified as 
overweight or obese (Also 
in Altogether Better for 
Children and Young 
People)

35.9 2012/13 
ac yr 38.4 GREEN 38.4 GREEN

RED RED

2012/1
3 ac yr

79.2 77.8*144 CASAH
18

Male life expectancy at birth 
(years) 77.9 2010-12 77.5 GREEN 77.5 GREEN RED GREEN

2010-
12

83.0 81.6*145 CASAH
19

Female life expectancy at 
birth (years) 81.5 2010-12 81.4 GREEN 81.4 GREEN RED RED

2010-
12

256.4 298.3*146 CASAH5 Under 75 all cause mortality 
rate per 100,000 population 294.6 2012 307.0 GREEN 307.0 GREEN RED GREEN 2012

81.1 92.4*

147 CASAH6

Under 75 mortality rate from 
cardiovascular diseases 
(including heart disease and 
stroke) per 100,000 
population

91.3 2010-12 96.6 GREEN 96.6 GREEN
RED GREEN

2010-
12

146.5 171.4*
148 CASAH7

Under 75 mortality rate from 
cancer per 100,000 
population

164.2 2010-12 163.5 AMBER 163.5 AMBER RED GREEN
2010-

12

P
age 72



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

18.0 22.3*
149 CASAH8

Under 75 mortality rate from 
liver disease per 100,000 
population

21.7 2010-12 22.1 GREEN 22.1 GREEN
RED GREEN

2010-
12

33.5 42.2*
150 CASAH9

Under 75 mortality rate from 
respiratory disease per 
100,000 population

40.1 2010-12 42.1 GREEN 42.1 GREEN
RED GREEN

2010-
12

No Data No Data
151 CASAH

23
Diabetes indicator (under 
development)

Indicator 
under 

development
NA NA NA NA NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed
16.5 13.7*

152 CASAH
20

Excess winter deaths (3 
year pooled) 16.8 2009-12 18.1 GREEN 18.1 GREEN

RED RED
2009-

12

9.7 8.1*
153 CASAH

20i

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital per 100,000 
population

8.3 Apr - Aug 
2014 6.4 RED 10.3 GREEN

GREEN RED
2013/14 

(provisional)

3.1 2*
154 CASAH

20ii

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital, which are 
attributable to adult social 
care, per 100,000 
population

1.5 Apr - Aug 
2014 1.0 RED 0.9 RED

GREEN GREEN
2013/14 

(provisional)

85.8 No Data
155 CASAH

17

Patient experience of 
community mental health 
services (scored on a scale 
of 0-100)

89.4 2013 87.0 GREEN 88.4 GREEN
GREEN N/A

2013

8.5 9.8*

156 CASAS
26

Suicide rate (deaths from 
suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population
(Also in Altogether Safer)

11.3 2010-12 12.0 GREEN 12.0 GREEN
RED RED

2010-
12P

age 73



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

25.2 25.1*

157 NS11

Percentage of the adult 
population participating in at 
least 30 minutes sport and 
active recreation of at least 
moderate intensity on at 
least 3 days a week 

28.2 Apr 2012 - 
Apr 2014 29.8 RED 24.3 GREEN

GREEN GREEN
2014

Altogether Safer          
27.3**

158 CASAS
12

Overall crime rate (per 
1,000 population) 24.9 Apr - Sep 

2014 12.7
Not 

comparable 
[6]

23.7 RED Not 
comparable

Apr - 
Aug 
2014

No Data No Data
159 CASAS

14
Number of serious or major 
crimes 456 Apr - Sep 

2014 235
Not 

comparable 
[6]

369 RED
N/A N/A

N

16.2 13.2**
160 CASAS

24
Rate of theft offences (per 
1,000 population) 11.0 Apr - Sep 

2014 5.7
Not 

comparable 
[6]

11.3 GREEN Not 
comparable

Not 
comparable

Apr - 
Aug 
2014

0.18 N/A
161 CASAS

25
Rate of robberies (per 1,000 
population) 0.08 Apr - Sep 

2014 0.05
Not 

comparable 
[6]

0.06 RED Not 
comparable N/A

Apr - 
Aug 
2014

No Data No Data
162 CASAS

15

Number of police reported 
incidents of anti-social 
behaviour 

13,154 Apr - Sep 
2014 6,523

Not 
comparable 

[6]
13,560 GREEN

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
163 CASAS

13

Percentage of survey 
respondents perceiving a 
high level of anti-social 
behaviour in their local area  

27 Apr - Jun 
2014 30.5 GREEN 44.5

Not 
comparable 

[7] N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data 61**

164 CASAS
11

Percentage of survey 
respondents who agree that 
the police and local council 
are dealing with concerns of 
anti-social behaviour and 
crime

62.1 Jul 2013 - 
Jun 2014 58.8 GREEN 56.7 GREEN

N/A GREEN

Jul 
2013 - 

Jun 
2014

P
age 74



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

No Data No Data
165 CASAS

10
Recorded level of victim 
based crimes 11,436 Apr - Sep 

2014 5,785
Not 

comparable 
[6]

10,756 RED
N/A N/A

No Data No Data
166 CASAS

17

Number of adult 
safeguarding referrals fully 
or partially substantiated

66 Apr - Sep 
2014 29 NA 99 NA

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
167 CASAS

22 Number of hate incidents 203 Apr - Sep 
2014 109 NA 144 NA

N/A N/A

8.5 9.8*

168 CASAS
26

Suicide rate (deaths from 
suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population
(Also in Altogether 
Healthier)

11.3 2010-12 12.0 GREEN 12.0 GREEN
RED RED

2010-
12

No Data No DataNumber of people killed or 
seriously injured in road 
traffic accidents

103 42
Not 

comparable 
[6]

91 RED N/A N/A

Number of fatalities 6   14    
169 REDPI44

Number of seriously injured 97

Jan - Jun 
2014

  77    
No Data No DataNumber of children killed or 

seriously injured in road 
traffic accidents

13 1
Not 

comparable 
[6]

13 AMBER N/A N/A

Number of fatalities 0   0     
170 REDPI45

Number of seriously injured 13

Jan - Jun 
2014

  13     

26.1 No Data
171 CASAS

18

Proportion of offenders who 
re-offend in a 12 month 
period

27.4 Oct 2011 - 
Sep 2012 27.9 GREEN 29.7 GREEN

RED N/A

Oct 
2011 - 
Sep 
2012

No Data No Data
172 CASAS

19

Percentage of anti-social 
behaviour incidents that are 
alcohol related 

13.6 Apr - Sep 
2014 14.0 GREEN 15.7 GREEN

N/A N/A
No

P
age 75



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

No Data No Data
173 CASAS

20
Percentage of violent crime 
that is alcohol related 30.4 Apr - Sep 

2014 30.7 GREEN 33.8 GREEN
N/A N/A

No Data No Data

174 CASAS
21

Percentage of families 
where a successful 
intervention for crime/anti-
social behaviour is achieved 
(Stronger Families 
Programme)

43.3 Apr 2012 - 
Aug 2014 40.4 GREEN 22.8

Not 
comparable 

[2] N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

Altogether Greener          

No Data No Data

175 NS14c

Percentage of relevant land 
and highways assessed as 
having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an 
acceptable level

0.33 Apr - Jul 
2014 2.33 GREEN 1.22 GREEN

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

No Data No Data176 NS15 Number of  fly-tipping 
incidents reported 9,922 Oct 2013 - 

Sep 2014 9,693 RED 7,242 RED
N/A N/A

No Data No Data177 NS16 Number of  fly-tipping 
incidents cleared 7,774 Oct 2013 - 

Sep 2014 7,634 NA 5,771 NA
N/A N/A

No Data No Data
178 NS17a

Percentage of household 
waste collected from the 
kerbside and recycled

20.8
Sep 2013 

- Aug 
2014

21.2 RED 21.8 RED
N/A N/A

No Data No Data179 NS17b
Percentage of household 
waste collected from the 
kerbside and composted

11.2
Sep 2013 

- Aug 
2014

11.1 GREEN 10.4 GREEN
N/A N/A

No 

No Data No Data

180 NS09

Megawatt hours (MWh) of 
energy produced from 
municipal waste sent to 
Sita’s ‘Energy from Waste’ 
plant

38,930
Sep 2013 

- Aug 
2014

28,944 GREEN New 
indicator NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

181 REDPI46 Percentage reduction in 39 As at Dec 41.2 RED 41.2 RED 6.4 18* 2009

P
age 76



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

CO₂ emissions in County 
Durham 2012 GREEN GREEN

No Data No Data

182 REDPI47

Renewable energy 
generation - mega watts 
equivalent (MWe) installed 
or installed/approved 
capacity within County 
Durham

213.46 As at Sep 
2014 207.79

Not 
comparable 

[2]
202.71

Not 
comparable 

[2] N/A N/A

Altogether Better Council          
No Data No Data183 NS43a Number of customer 

contacts- face to face 57,763 Jul - Sep 
2014 62,388 NA 71,342 NA N/A N/A

No Data No Data184 NS43b Number of customer 
contacts-telephone 244,074 Jul - Sep 

2014 236,372 NA 258,047 NA N/A N/A
No Data No Data185 NS43c Number of customer 

contacts- web forms 4,352 Jul - Sep 
2014 3,991 NA 4,697 NA N/A N/A

No Data No Data186 NS43d Number of customer 
contacts- emails 12,839 Jul - Sep 

2014 13,539 NA 13,186 NA N/A N/A
No Data No Data187 NS20 Percentage of abandoned 

calls 5 Jul - Sep 
2014 4 RED 12 GREEN N/A N/A

No Data No Data
188 NS100

Number of complaints 
recorded on the Customer 
Relationship Management 
database (CRM)

898 Jul - Sep 
2014 617 RED 856 RED

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
189 RES/013 Staff aged under 25 as a 

percentage of post count 5.63 As at Sep 
2014 5.47 NA 5.55 NA

N/A N/A
No Data No Data190 RES/014 Staff aged over 50 as a 

percentage of post count 38.16 As at Sep 
2014 38.02 NA 36.84 NA N/A N/A

No Data No Data
191 RES/LPI/

011a
Women in the top five 
percent of earners 52.3 As at Sep 

2014 51.44 NA 51.53 NA
N/A N/A

P
age 77



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

No Data No Data192 RES/LPI/
011bi

Black and minority ethnic 
(BME) as a percentage of 
post count

1.53 As at Sep 
2014 1.47 NA 1.40 NA

N/A N/A

No Data No Data193 RES/LPI/
011ci

Staff with disability as a 
percentage of post count 2.75 As at Sep 

2014 2.79 NA 2.93 NA
N/A N/A

No Data No Data
194 REDPI79

Number of tenants of the 
seven main housing 
providers seen through the 
triage process

506 Jul - Aug 
2014 587 RED 494 GREEN

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
195 REDPI

79a

Percentage of triaged 
tenants of the seven main 
housing providers who were 
given employability advice

33 Jul - Sep 
2014 34 RED 22 GREEN

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
196 REDPI

79b

Percentage of triaged 
tenants of the seven main 
housing providers  who 
were given debt advice

33 Jul - Sep 
2014 37 RED 33 AMBER

N/A N/A
No 

No Data No Data
197 REDPI

79c

Percentage of  triaged 
tenants of the seven main 
housing providers  who 
were given income advice

65 Jul - Sep 
2014 54 GREEN 53 GREEN

N/A N/A

No Data No Data
198 REDPI

79d

Percentage of  triaged 
tenants of the seven main 
housing providers  that 
have been rehoused

4 Jan - Mar 
2014 5 RED New 

indicator NA
N/A N/A

No 

No Data No Data
199 RES028

Discretionary Housing 
Payments - value (£) for 
customers affected by 
social sector size criteria

813,326.00 Jul - Sep 
2014 629,272.88 NA 197,120.90 NA

N/A N/A
No 

No Data No Data
200 RES029

Discretionary Housing 
Payments - value (£) for 
customers affected by local 
housing allowance reforms

84,430.00 Jul - Sep 
2014 62,342.77 NA 48,677.44 NA

N/A N/A

P
age 78



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Previous 
period 
data

Performance 
compared to 

previous 
period

Data 12 
months 
earlier 

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

National 
figure

*North East  
figure

**Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour  

figure

Period 
covered

17.6 24*

201 ACE016

Percentage of children in 
poverty (quarterly proxy 
measure) (Also in 
Altogether Better for 
Children and Young 
People)

23.3 As at May 
2014 23.6 AMBER 24.4 GREEN

RED GREEN

As at 
May 
2014

18.9 23.4*

202 ACE017

Percentage of children 
inpoverty  (national annual 
measure) (Also in 
Altogether Better for 
Children and Young 
People)

22.7 2012 23.0 GREEN 23.0 GREEN
RED GREEN

2012

No Data No Data203 RES/034 Staff - total headcount 
(including schools) 17,453 As at Sep 

2014 17,951 NA 17,533 NA N/A N/A
No Data No Data

204 RES/035
Staff - total full time 
equivalent (FTE) (including 
schools)

14,076 As at Sep 
2014 14,068 NA 14,198 NA N/A N/A

No Data No Data
205 RES/052

Percentage of posts with no 
absence (excluding 
schools)

46.58 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 48.14 RED Data not 

available NA [8] N/A N/A

No Data No Data
206 RES/020

Percentage of time lost to 
sickness in rolling year 
(excluding schools)

4.85 Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 4.71 RED 4.80 RED N/A N/A

No Data No Data

207 RES/036

Number of RIDDOR 
(Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations) 
incidents reported to the 
Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE)

14 Apr - Jun 
2014 15 N/A 16 NA

N/A N/A

No 
Period 
Specifi

ed

[1] Due to changes to the definition data is not comparable
[2] Data cumulative year on year so comparisons are not applicable
[3] Indicator description amended to accurately reflect how performance is measured

P
age 79



[4] Annual target
[5] Data not comparable due to the high number of school leavers whose status is 'not known' which impacts significantly on this indicator
[6] Data is cumulative and based on 6 months period so comparisons are not applicable
[7] Due to changes in the local police confidence survey the data are not comparable
[8] Frequency changed and past data  not available

P
age 80



Appendix 4:  Volume Measures

Chart 1 – Planning applications (12 month rolling total)

Chart 2 – Durham Key Options - total number of those registered on the Durham Key Options 
system who have been rehoused (includes existing tenants and new tenants)

Page 81



Chart 3 - Number of looked after children cases 

Chart 4 - Children in need referrals within 12 months of previous referral 

Page 82



Chart 5 - Percentage of successful completions of those in alcohol treatment

Chart 6 - Percentage of successful completions of those in drug treatment – opiates 

Page 83



Chart 7 - Percentage of successful completions of those in drug treatment – non-opiates 

Chart 8 – Fly-tipping incidents 

Page 84



Chart 9 – Housing Benefits – new claims

Chart 10 – Council Tax Reduction – new claims

Page 85



Chart 11 – Housing Benefits – changes of circumstances

Chart 12 – Council Tax Reduction – changes of circumstances

Page 86



Chart 13 - Telephone calls

Chart 14 – Face to face contacts

Page 87



Chart 15 – Freedom of Information (FOI) requests

Page 88



Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

18 December 2014

Notice of Key Decisions

Report of Corporate Management Team
Colette Longbottom, Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Purpose of the Report

1 To consider the list of key decisions that is scheduled to be considered 
by the Executive. 

Background

2 New rules in relation to Executive decisions were introduced by The 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, which came into force on 10 
September 2012. 

3 The regulations took away the requirement for the Executive to 
produce a Forward Plan of key decisions, however introduced that the 
decision maker cannot make a key decision unless a document has 
been published at least 28 clear days before the decision is taken, 
unless either a general exception or special urgency requirements 
have been met.  The document which has to be published must state:

a) that the key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 
authority

b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made

c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual’s name 
and title if any and where the decision maker is a decision making 
body, its name and list of its members

d) the date on which or the period within which the decision is to be 
made

e) a list of the document submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter of which the key decision is 
to be made

f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on 
their disclosure copies of, or extracts from any document listed as 
available

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted 
to the decision maker

h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) 
as they become available.

4 The requirements also apply to an exempt matter as previously it did 
not strictly have to be included in the Forward Plan. Now a publicity 
document must contain particulars of the matter, but may not contain 
any confidential exempt information or particulars of the adviser or 
political adviser or assistant.

5 Notices of key decisions that are being produced meet the legal 
requirements of publication, as well as continuing to provide 
information for a four month period. Members will therefore be able to 
consider key decisions as previously for the four month period.

Current Notice of Key Decisions

6 The notice of key decisions that is attached to the report at Appendix 2, 
is the latest to be published prior to the papers for the Board being 
dispatched to members. The notice complies with the requirements for 
Cabinet to be able to take key decisions at the meeting on 17 
December 2014. It also contained information on those key decisions 
that are currently scheduled to be considered by the Executive up to 31 
March 2015.

7 The information in the Notice of Key Decisions provides the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Board with the opportunity of considering 
whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these key decisions, or to 
request further information. Members are asked to note that this 
version of the Notice has been amended and includes a column which 
has been added to advise of the relevant Scrutiny activity.   

8 In responding to the request of the Board for further information to be 
provided on any items that are removed from the previous notice 
without being considered by Cabinet, this information will be provided 
at the meeting.

9 If the Board wished to examine any of the key decisions, consideration 
would need to be given as to how this could be accommodated in the 
Overview and Scrutiny Work programme. 

Recommendation

10 You are recommended to give consideration to items listed in the 
notice.

Contact: Ros Layfield, Committee Services Manager Tel: 03000 269708
Jenny Haworth, Head of Planning and Performance, ACE 
Tel: 03000 268071 

Page 90



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance :  Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Staffing: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Risk: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty: Will be reflected in 
each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Accommodation: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Crime and Disorder Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Human Rights: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Consultation: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Procurement: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Disability Issues: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Legal Implications: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

Ref. No. Date of Decision

(i.e. date of 

Cabinet 

meeting)

Description of Decision

to be Made 

Background 

Documents

Lead Cabinet 

Member

Main Consultees

& Means of

Consultation

Contact details for 

further information

Scrutiny 

Involvement

Corp/R/14/02 17/12/14 2015/16 General Fund 

Revenue and Capital 

Budget MTFP 5 and 

Council Plan, Service 

Plans and Council Tax 

Base 2015/16

Cabinet report - 16 

July 2014

Cllr Simon 

Henig and Cllr 

Alan Napier

The Council carried 

out a significant 

consultation process 

for MTFP (4).  The 

responses to this 

process will be 

utilised for MTFP (5) 

although AAPs will be 

consulted on the 

2015/16 budget and 

there will be targeted 

consultation on 

individual savings 

plans.

Don McLure, 

Corporate Director, 

Resources Tel: 

03000 261945 and 

Lorraine O'Donnell, 

Assistant Chief 

Executive Tel: 03000 

268060

The CIOSC will 

input into the 

formulation of the 

MTFP 5 and 

Council/Service 

Plans and 

provide member 

assurance into 

this development 

process.  Reports 

were received in 

September and 

November 2014, 

and meetings are 

planned for 

January and 

February 2015

P
age 93



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

Corp/R/14/02 14/01/15 2015/16 General Fund 

Revenue and Capital 

Budget MTFP 5 and 

Council Plan and Service 

Plans 

Cabinet report - 16 

July 2014 & 17 

December 2014

Cllr Simon 

Henig and Cllr 

Alan Napier

The Council carried 

out a significant 

consultation process 

for MTFP (4).  The 

responses to this 

process will be 

utilised for MTFP (5) 

although AAPs will be 

consulted on the 

2015/16 budget and 

there will be targeted 

consultation on 

individual savings 

plans.

Don McLure, 

Corporate Director, 

Resources Tel: 

03000 261945 and 

Lorraine O'Donnell, 

Assistant Chief 

Executive Tel: 03000 

268060

As above.

Corp/R/14/02 11/02/15 2015/16 General Fund 

Revenue and Capital 

Budget MTFP 5 and 

Council Plan and Service 

Plans 

Cabinet report - 16 

July 2014, 17 

December 2014 & 

14 January 2015

Cllr Simon 

Henig and Cllr 

Alan Napier

The Council carried 

out a significant 

consultation process 

for MTFP (4).  The 

responses to this 

process will be 

utilised for MTFP (5) 

although AAPs will be 

consulted on the 

2015/16 budget and 

there will be targeted 

consultation on 

individual savings 

plans.

Don McLure, 

Corporate Director, 

Resources Tel: 

03000 261945 and 

Lorraine O'Donnell, 

Assistant Chief 

Executive Tel: 03000 

268060

As above.

P
age 94



SECTION TWO - 

CHILDREN AND ADULTS SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 

Decision

(i.e. date of 

Cabinet 

Description of 

Decision

to be Made 

Background 

Documents

Lead Cabinet 

Member

Main Consultees

& Means of

Consultation

Contact 

details for 

further 

information

Scrutiny 

Involvement

P
age 95



SECTION THREE - REGENERATION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Ref. No.

Date of Decision

(i.e. date of Cabinet 

meeting)

Description of Decision

to be Made 

Background 

Documents

Lead Cabinet 

Member

Main Consultees

& Means of

Consultation

Contact details for 

further information

Scrutiny 

involvement

R&ED/10/14 11/02/15 Housing Stock - Transfer 

Update

Portfolio Holder for 

Housing and Rural 

Issues

Council staff via the 

formulation of transfer 

principles 

Sarah Robson, Head 

of Economic 

Development 

03000 267 332

The Economy 

and Enterprise 

OSC has 

considered 

several updates 

in respect of the 

Stock Transfer 

project and will 

receive updates 

in respect of the 

initiative at 

future meetings.

R&ED/01/15 06/05/15 Housing Stock - Transfer 

Completion Update

Portfolio Holder for 

Housing and Rural 

Issues

Council staff via the 

formulation of transfer 

principles 

Sarah Robson, Head 

of Economic 

Development 

03000 267 332

The Economy 

and Enterprise 

OSC has 

considered 

several updates 

in respect of the 

Stock Transfer 

project and will 

receive updates 

in respect of the 

initiative at 

future meetings.

P
age 96



SECTION FOUR - NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of Decision

(i.e. date of Cabinet 

meeting)

Description of Decision

to be Made 

Background 

Documents

Lead Cabinet 

Member

Main 

Consultees

& Means of

Contact details 

for further 

information

Scrutiny 

Involvement

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

18 December  2014

Information update from the 
Chairs of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive  

Purpose of the Report

1 To present to Members an information update of overview and scrutiny activity from 
20th October – 18th December 2014.

Background

2 As previously agreed, a written report of Chairs’ updates will be presented for 
information only to all Overview and Scrutiny Management Boards. Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board are encouraged to get involved in any 
area of Overview and Scrutiny activity via thematic committees and/or talk to 
Scrutiny Committee Chairs and OS Officers on areas of project/overview activity.

Updates

3 Updates from Overview and Scrutiny Committees from 20th October – 18th 
December 2014.

Corporate Issues Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CIOSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period.

Scrutiny 
Review Activity

CIOSC Members will have input into the MTFP 5 and budget process 
at meetings in January and February 2015.

Overview 
reports/
Presentations

CIOSC on 21st November received reports/presentations on:
 Report on the Council’s use of powers under the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000 – Quarter 1 and Quarter 2 - 
2014/15

 Review of Council Plan and Service Plans
 Quarter 2 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2014/15 (ACE 

and Resources)

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SSC OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period.

Scrutiny 
Review Activity

SSC on 28th October received:
 Overview and Scrutiny Review on Organised Crime – Draft scoping 

document.

Working group meetings on the review of Organised Crime took place 
on 18th November (National & Local Context), 24th November 
(Community Intelligence) and 9th December (Illegal Waste Sites). 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

SSC OSC on 28th October 2014 received reports/presentations on:
 Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company
 Safe Durham Partnership Reducing Re-offending Strategy 2014/17
 Update on the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
 Refresh of the Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2015/18
 Verbal update on the Police and Crime Panel
 Safe Durham Partnership Briefing.

SSC OSC Special meeting on 13th November 2014 2014 received a 
presentation and provided a response to County Durham & Darlington 
Fire & Rescue Service’s Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
2015/16 to 2017/18 Consultation.

This meeting took place at the Fire Brigade HQ Belmont Business 
Park and provided SSC OSC Members the opportunity to visit the new 
premises.

Following consideration of the ‘ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014, the 
Committee have made arrangements for a session on 12th December 
2014 for all Members to receive information on this Act. 

Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E & E OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

E&E OSC on 15 December received a systematic update on:
 Increasing young people’s employment opportunities (18-24) 

within County Durham.

Scrutiny 
Review Activity

A Special E&E OSC on  5th December was held to receive a report 
and presentation focusing on:
 18-24 age group looking at the destination of claimants when they 

come off Jobseekers Allowance, sanctions and challenges, 
unemployment rates and youth unemployment hotspots within the 
County. In addition, case studies giving examples of why young 
people find it difficult to obtain employment will be provided for  
discussion with representatives from FE Colleges, the Prince’s 

Page 100



Trust and various organisations in the voluntary sector who 
support young people into work.  

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

E&E OSC on  30th October 2014 received reports/presentations on:
 Youth Employment Initiative.
 Business Durham Activity – Update.
 EU Funding Update.

Special E&E  OSC on  7th November received reports/ presentations 
on:
 Performance reporting of our housing providers: Durham City 

Homes, Dale and Valley Homes and East Durham Homes.

A Special E&E OSC on  15th December received reports/ 
presentations on:
 Housing Stock Transfer.
 Digital Durham.
 Affordable Homes.

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Environment OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period

Scrutiny 
Review Activity

Environment OSC on 10th November 2014 received:
 Scoping report for Scrutiny review of the management of the woodland 

estate owned by DCC

Special Environment OSC on 17th November received reports/ 
presentations on:
 Management of the Woodlands Estate owned by DCC from the 

Landscape Team and the Forestry Commission. The presentation 
provided an overview of: National policy, local policy, partnership 
working including examples of projects, funding and work 
undertaken to generate income. 

On 4 December 2014 members of the Scrutiny review group visited:
 Sunderland Bridge to see timber extraction taking place. 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

Environment OSC on 10th November received reports/presentations 
on: 
 Overview of the work of the Community Action Team and the use 

of targeted interventions
 Winter Maintenance Plan 
 Warm Up North 
 European Structural and Investment Funds – Low Carbon 

Economy

Page 101



 Limestone Landscape Programme
 Minutes of the County Durham Environment Partnership Board
 Minutes of the Durham Strategic Flood Prevention Group
 Draft minutes of the Northumbria Regional Flood and Coast 

Committee

Special Environment OSC on 25th November received reports/ 
presentations on:
 Underground Coal Gasification (UCG)

Visit On 26 November 2014 Members of the Environment OSC visited:
 Freeman’s Reach Durham to view the Archimedes Screw.

Children and Young Peoples Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYP OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

CYP OSC on 3rd November received a systematic update on:
 Recommendations on Support for Children and Young People with 

Mental Health Issues Review

Scrutiny 
Review Activity

Working group meetings to discuss the CYP OSC review of Self-
harm took place on: 24th October, 4th November, 10th November, 2nd 
December and 16th December a draft report will be brought back for 
the committee to consider prior to being presented to Cabinet.  
Evidence has been received from:
 Public Health
 Children’s Care
 Commissioners of Children’s services
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
 School Nurses
 Young People from DISC Lesbian, Gay Bisexual and Transgender 

Group
 Framwellgate School Durham 
 Educational Psychologists Team
 North East Mental Health
 Sunderland Pact (a parents’ support group)

A draft report will be produced for consideration by the committee 
prior to being presented at Cabinet in Spring 2015.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

CYP OSC on 3rd November received reports/presentations on:
 Impact of smoking on Children and Young People
 Update on School Funding Reforms
 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2013-14
 Summary of Minutes from Children and Families Partnership 22nd 

September 2014.

Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH OSC)

Page 102



Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period.

Scrutiny 
Review Activity

 There is no scrutiny review activity to report for this period.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

AWH OSC on 6th November 2014 received report/presentations on:
 NHS Quality Accounts 2013/14 - Progress against 2014/15 priorities
 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2013-14

Special AWH OSC on 8th December 2014  received reports/ 
presentations on:

 NHS England Durham Darlington and Tees Area Team – Review 
of APMS Contracts in County Durham 

 Breast Services Update – County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

 Care Act 2014
 Wellbeing for Life Services
 National Mental Health Strategy – “No Health without Mental 

Health” – County Durham Implementation plan

Performance/Budget/Work Programme Reporting

4 Information on both performance and outturn reports continue to be received and 
commented upon.

Recommendation

5 Members are invited to receive the report and note the information contained 
therein.

Background Papers:  Previous committee reports/presentations.

Contact: Jenny Haworth      Tel: 03000 268071
Email: jenny.haworth@durham.gov.uk

Page 103



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity /  Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – N/A

Procurement – N/A

Disability Issues – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A

Page 104


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on the 20 October 2014
	5 Children's Centre Review Consultation Process - Report of Assistant Chief Executive
	6 Update on the Delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 4 - Report of Assistant Chief Executive
	7 Quarter 2 2014/15 Performance Management - Report of Assistant Chief Executive
	8 Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Notice Key Decisions  Dec-Mar 2015

	9 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees - Report of Assistant Chief Executive

